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In the absence of any factual allegations to support such a claim, Plaintiffs’ conspiracy

claims must be dismissed.  As the Plaintiffs have pled no factual assertions which would give

rise to a factual plausibility of any conspiracy between Defendant Cathcart and any Defendant,

Counts One through Three must be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief can

be granted.  

III.  Plaintiffs fail to allege facts supportive of the claims set forth in Count 
Four as the Eighth Amendment is not applicable as it relates to any 
assertions against Defendant Cathcart such that Count IV must be 
dismissed.

Plaintiffs assert the Defendants were “vested with control over the custody and care of

Plaintiffs”, in this case juveniles.  ¶ 239.   This Count must be dismissed as it relates to

Defendant Cathcart as the Eighth Amendment is inapplicable in this case as these juveniles

were being held in noncriminal custody.  The only mention of any “adjudication” in the

Complaint is asserted in the claims by B.C. in paragraph 184.   There are no factual allegations

against Defendant Cathcart as set forth in B.C.’s claims, and her claims are ripe for dismissal

as outlined in Section I.  For all other Plaintiffs there is no assertion of criminal custody, rather

juvenile detention; accordingly, the Eighth Amendment claims do not give rise to any right of

relief on the part of Plaintiffs as to Defendant Cathcart. 

The Eighth Amendment “was designed to protect those convicted of crimes, and

consequently the [Cruel and Unusual Punishment] clause applies ‘only after the State has

complied with the constitutional guarantees traditionally associated with criminal

prosecutions.’ ” Whitley v. Albers, 475 U.S. 312, 318 (1986)(quoting Ingraham v. Wright,

430 US. 651, 671 n. 40 (1977).  Generally, “juveniles”, when they are held, are held in

noncriminal custody; they are persons civilly committed without the full panoply of
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protections attendant upon a criminal trial.”  Pena v. New York State Div. For Youth, 419

F.Supp. 203, 206 (S.D.N.Y. 1976).  Similarly, placement in the custody of state services such

as Woodside is not meant as punishment, but rather, to provide guidance and rehabilitation. 

See Kent v. United States, 383 U.S. 541, 554 (1966); Pena, 419 F.Supp. at 206.  

Therefore, the Eighth Amendment ban on cruel and unusual punishment is inapplicable

in this case.  Plaintiffs’ claims of violation pursuant to the Eighth Amendment are legally

deficient on their face and must be dismissed.  

Moreover, as it relates to the factual assertions against Defendant Cathcart, the only

reference to Defendant Cathcart’s specific actions and any named Plaintiff is set forth in ¶¶

150-158.  Therefore, to the extent there is an assertion of “cruel and unusual punishment” as to

Plaintiffs G.W., R.H, T.F., D.H., B.C. and A.L., there is no “sufficient factual matter” as it

relates to Defendant Cathcart in which to draw a reasonable inference of liability, and

dismissal at the pleading stage is warranted. 

IV. Plaintiffs in Count Five allege no facts specific to Defendant Cathcart 
which would give rise to a reasonable inference  he violated the Eighth 
Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment’s ban on the use of excessive 
force, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 thus dismissal is required.

As noted above, Plaintiffs’ claim of a violation of the Eighth Amendment is not

supported as Plaintiffs were held in juvenile custody and the Eighth Amendment is

inapplicable.  Jackson v. Johnson, 118 F.Supp.2d  278 (2000).   

The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment includes an individual’s freedom

from unreasonable bodily restraint.  Youngberg v. Romeo, 457 U.S. 307, 316 (1982).   This

applies to excessive force claims brought under the Fourteenth Amendment.  Hudson v.

McMillan, 503 U.S. 1(1992); United States v. Walsh, 194 F.3d 37, 48 (2d Cir. 1999).  The
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core inquiry by the Court is “whether force was applied in a good-faith effort to maintain or

restore discipline, or maliciously and sadistically to cause harm.” Hudson, 503 at 7.   This

inquiry includes a determination of several factors:  “[T]he need for application of force, the

relationship between that need and the amount of force used, the threat ‘reasonably perceived

by the responsible officials,’ and ‘any efforts made to temper the severity of a forceful

response.’ ” Id. (quoting Whitley v. Alberts, 475 U.S. 312, 321 (1986)).  The extent of injury is

another factor to consider which “may suggest ‘whether the use of force could plausibly have

been thought necessary’ in a particular situation, ‘or instead evinced such wantonness with

respect to the unjustified infliction of harm as is tantamount to a knowing willingness that it

occur.’ ” Id. (quoting Whitley, 475 U.S. at 321, 106 S.Ct. 1078).  Excessive force claims must

show “conscience-shocking” action by the Defendant. Johnson v. Newburgh Enlarged

School Dist., 239 F.3d 246, 252 (2d Cir. 2001).    Where the assertions of the use of force by

Defendants were  “de minimis, necessary, appropriate, and benign,” a claim of excessive force

under the Fourteenth Amendment should not stand. Id.   Specific actions pled as “unprovoked

pushing, punching, and kicking”, verbal abuse, violent pushing, and distinct physical injury are

absent in this Complaint, and not pled by Plaintiff T.W., nor are they alleged against

Defendant Cathcart. See D. K. v. L.K. Teams, 260 F.Supp.3d 334, 355-357 (S.D. New York

2017)(offering specific detail as to staff actions against residents which gave rise to claims of

excessive force which shocked the conscience).  

In this case, excessive force is pled as seclusion, isolation and physical restraint which

shocked the conscience.  ¶ 251.   Plaintiffs specifically allege:

¶ 43. Under the direction of Defendant Simons, Woodside staff
members, including Defendants Weiner, Martinez and Rochon, would
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apply rotational pressure to the juvenile’s joints, including wrists,
shoulders, and knees, and hyperextend shoulder and rotator cuff muscle
groups.

¶ 44.  The use of Simons’ techniques sometimes caused excruciating
pain that could lead to swelling and the possibility of limited range of
motion. 

The Complaint also specifically details the potential risk of harmful results from isolation and

seclusion as general commentary by an expert.  In the isolation and seclusion context in the

Complaint, there is solely mention of Plaintiff G.W..    

Defendant Cathcart is not asserted to be involved with any other Plaintiff in the

Complaint beyond T.W.  This includes the factual background, conditions of Woodside and

specific claims by Plaintiffs’ sections of the Complaint.  The bare reference to Defendant

William Cathcart is in paragraph 154:

According to these incident reports, Defendants Bunnell,
Cathcart and Dubuc requested and/or received and carried out
the orders to unlawfully place T.W. in a North Unit isolation cell
or physically restrain her. 

The Plaintiffs further acknowledge that the North Unit would be utilized for those detainees

who engaged in “disruptive, aggressive or self-harming behaviors”.   ¶ 37.   Plaintiff T.W.

asserts placement in isolation, or use of physical restraint after Woodside Orders for

Restraint/Seclusion arising from her behavior at Woodside issued.  There is no discussion of

the behavior which resulted in seclusion, restraint or isolation.  Plaintiff T.W. does not allege

the specifics of physical restraint, nor placement in isolation by Defendant Cathcart, but asserts

time and again such restraint, seclusion and isolation was “wrongful”. 

At best, the Court is left with Plaintiff T.W.’s assertion in paragraph 67 which states:
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In particular, based on this investigation, RLSIU concluded that Woodside’s
use of Defendant Simons’ pain compliance techniques violated Regulation 648
and 650; Woodside’s inappropriate use of restrains violated Regulation 651;
and Woodside’s failure to monitor T.W. when she was placed in a North Unit
Seclusion cell violated Relation 660. 

The assertions of T.W. are made without any specific reference to either the actions and

behaviors which resulted in the restraint and seclusion, nor is there an assertion of injury

resulting.  To the contrary, the Complaint asserts the compliance techniques used “can result in

hyperextended joints”, though no such report of injury is made specific to T.W.. See ¶ 157.   

Assuming this pled fact is properly attributable to Defendant Cathcart, Plaintiff T.W. does not

allege facts which would reasonably allow this Court to infer Defendant Cathcart acted

“maliciously or sadistically” with the design of causing harm to T.W..  Johnson v. Glick, 481

F.2d 1028, 1033 (2d Cir. 1973), partially abrogated on other grounds by Graham v. Connor,

490 U.S. 386 (1989).   No Plaintiffs asserts conduct by Defendant Cathcart which could

possibly be construed as “power arbitrarily and oppressively exercised.” Daniels v. Williams,

474 U.S. 327, 331 (1986).  There are no facts alleged which support Defendant Cathcart used

force in a manner that was objectively unreasonable.  

Accepting Plaintiffs’ factual allegations as true, there is no plausible claim for relief

beyond the mere possibility of misconduct by Defendant Cathcart as it relates to the claims for

Constitutional violations of excessive force and “conscience-shocking” behavior.  Count Five

must be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  
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V. Plaintiffs have alleged no facts against Defendant Cathcart in Count Six 
which would allow the Court to reasonably infer a Constitutional violation
of any Plaintiffs’ life, liberty or property without due process, thus this 
Count must be dismissed.

To allege a substantive due process claim, there must be allegation of the deprivation

of a “fundamental liberty interest”.  Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 753 (1982).   Due

process is violated only when the conduct can be characterized as “arbitrary, or conscience

shocking, in a constitutional sense.”  Edrei v. Maguire, 892 F.3d 525, 536 (2d Cir. 2018).    

“[P]urposeful, knowing or (perhaps) reckless action that uses an objectively unreasonable

degree of force is conscience shocking.”  Edrei, 892 F.3d at 536.   Section 1983 provides

redress for a deprivation of federally protected rights by persons acting under color of state

law. 42 U.S.C. § 1983. To prevail on a § 1983 claim, a plaintiff must establish (1) the violation

of a right, privilege, or immunity secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States; and 

(2) by a person acting under the color of state law. West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988);

Flagg Bros., Inc., v. Brooks, 436 U.S. 149, 155–56 (1978).  When sued in his individual

capacity the defendant must be personally involved in the claimed violation.  “To proximately

cause a ... due process violation ... a defendant must be personally involved in the violation.”

Warren v. Pataki, 823 F.3d 125, 136 (2d Cir. 2016) .  Plaintiff must plead and prove “that

each Government-official defendant, through the official's own individual actions, has violated

the Constitution.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 676.   The only factual allegations against Defendant

Cathcart and his actions and/or omissions arise from allegations made by T.W..  

Plaintiffs in this Count assert Defendants “confined, restrained, treated, and punished”

them, and that such actions were “excessive, done with actual malice toward Plaintiffs, and

with willful and wanton indifference to, and deliberate disregard for human life and the
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constitutional rights of Plaintiffs.”  ¶¶ 257, 259.  This Count is again presumed to arise from

the allegation of confinement and physical or bodily restraint as a violation of Plaintiffs’

liberty interests.  As in this case, the residents of Woodside are confined by the State and their

ability to act on their own behalf is limited.  The Constitution requires Vermont meet the basic

needs of safety, treatment and care.  Langley v. Coughlin, 715 F.Supp. 522, 539 (S.D.N.Y.

1989).  These interests “are not absolute; indeed to some extent they are in conflict.” 

Youngberg, 457 U.S. at 319-320.    Woodside qualifies as that “institution” in which “it is

necessary for the State to restrain the movement of residents  - for example, to protect them as

well as others from violence.”  Youngberg, 457 U.S. 320.  Further, such detainees cannot be

“punished” but any restrictions on liberty must be reasonably related to “legitimate

government objectives and not tantamount to punishment.”  Youngberg, 457 U.S. at 320 ,

citing Bell v. Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520 (1979).   Youngberg, which dealt with an involuntarily

committed adult, highlighted the necessary balance between the legitimate interests of the

State and the individual’s rights noting: 

The Constitution only requires that the courts make certain that
professional judgment in fact was exercised.  It is not
appropriate for the courts to specify which of several
professionally acceptable choices should have been made. 
Youngberg, 457 U.S. at 323 (citing [the lower court]).  

The decisions by the professionals, here Defendant Cathcart, are presumed to be valid. 

Liability is imposed only:

When the decision by the professional is such a substantial
departure from accepted professional judgment, practice, or
standards as to demonstrate that the person responsible actually
did not base the decision on such a judgment. 

Youngberg, 457 U.S. at 323.
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Plaintiffs have not specifically alleged actions by Defendant Cathcart which would

indicate a substantive departure from accepted professional judgment, practice or standards. 

Plaintiffs have not alleged Defendant Cathcart, by his own individual actions, has violated the

Constitution, nor their constitutionally protected interests.  Certainly, the Plaintiffs’ Complaint

is without any conduct that can be characterized as arbitrary or conscience shocking.  Edrei,

supra. 

Plaintiffs assert Defendant Simons introduced a use-of-force system to the staff at

Woodside.  ¶ 42.   Plaintiffs do not specifically state Defendant Cathcart utilized, or was even

personally involved, this use-of-force system on any Plaintiff resulting in injury or damage.  ¶¶

43-44, 155-158.    Plaintiffs complain the noted use-of-force system was “contrary to national

standards and Vermont law”.  ¶ 45.   Plaintiffs do not allege facts, nor factual content, which

would allow the Court to infer professional judgment in the application of this use-of-force

system was not exercised.   Nor do Plaintiffs assert facts which would allow the Court to

conclude Defendant Cathcart utilized such use-of-force system as “punishment”.    Similarly,

Plaintiffs assert isolation and seclusion, in certain circumstances was “inappropriate”.  ¶ 76.  

While the use of this system and isolation/seclusion may have been “contrary” to national

standards, there are no facts alleged with which the Court can infer Defendant Cathcart acted

in a manner that was a “substantial departure from accepted professional judgment, practice or

standards” such that he did not base the decision on such a judgment.  Youngberg, 457 U.S. at

323.       

In the sole section alleging facts against Defendant Cathcart, Plaintiffs must

acknowledge T.W.’s incident reports resulting in restraint and/or isolation/section were due
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solely from the behaviors of T.W. including disruptive, aggressive, or self harming behaviors.

¶ ¶ 37, 154.   The need to protect Plaintiffs, including T.W., other juveniles, and staff, is a

“legitimate government objective”.   In the absence of any pled facts which would allow the

Court to infer actions taken amount to “punishment” or otherwise “arbitrary” or “conscience-

shocking” behavior, Plaintiffs have failed to pled deprivation of a “fundamental liberty

interest” and dismissal at the pleading stage is appropriate.   Likewise, Plaintiffs fail to allege

personal involvement in any action by Defendant Cathcart of such behavior, and dismissal is

appropriate pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6).  

VI. As Plaintiffs make no factual allegations against Defendant Cathcart 
directly with regard to actions at the Natchez Trace Youth Academy 
Count Seven must be dismissed. 

This Count should be summarily dismissed as it relates to Defendant Cathcart.  

Paragraphs 261 through 266 mention neither Defendant Cathcart nor actions made by

Defendant Cathcart, nor do they pertain to specifically named Plaintiff T.W. to whom alleged

wrongdoing by Defendant Cathcart.  Accordingly, Count Seven as it relates to Defendant

Cathcart should be dismissed.   Under the standards of F.R.C.P. 12 (b)(6), Plaintiffs have not

alleged any right to relief as against Defendant Cathcart in this Count. 

VII. Plaintiffs R.H. and T.F. allege no facts in Counts Eight and Nine which 
give rise to a right of relief against Defendant Cathcart.

Plaintiffs assert a violation of the First Amendment’s Right to Petition the Government

for a Redress of Grievances by R.H. and T.F., as well as the same count arising from

conspiracy.   Nowhere in the Complaint do these Plaintiffs allege facts which would give rise

to a right of relief against Defendant Cathcart.  See, ¶¶ 132-149 and 171-180.   In the absence

of specific facts from which the Court can conclude a reasonable inference of a violation of
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rights, there is no legal relief the Court can grant on this claim as it relates to Defendant

Cathcart.  There is no ability whatsoever for the Court to draw a reasonable inference that

Defendant Cathcart was liable for the misconduct alleged.  Accordingly, dismissal of these

claims is appropriate under F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6).

VIII. Plaintiffs’ pendant state claim for assault and battery must be dismissed 
as there is no factual allegation to support Defendant Cathcart 
intentionally engaged in physical contact with any Plaintiff.  

Plaintiffs assert in this Count assault and battery arising from allegations of placement

in isolation in the North Unit and physical assault by Defendants.  This Count does not name

any specific Plaintiff or Defendant, nor does it specifically detail the “damage” resulting.   The

tort of assault and battery in Vermont requires a finding of intent.  Wilson v. Smith, 144 Vt.

358 (1984).  A “battery” is an intentional wrongful physical contact with another person

without consent.’ ” Girden v. Sandals Int'l, 262 F.3d 195, 203 (2d Cir. 2001) (quoting United

Nat'l Ins. Co. v. Waterfront N.Y. Realty Corp., 994 F.2d 105, 108 (2d Cir. 1993).  “In the

civil context, the common meanings of ‘assault’ and ‘battery’ subsume all forms of tortious

menacing and unwanted touching. ’ ” Girden, 262 F.3d at 203. (quoting United Nat'l Ins. Co.,

994 F.2d at 108).  

Plaintiffs have offered no facts which would give rise to a reasonable inference that

Defendant Cathcart acted to intentionally cause physical contact without consent toward any

Plaintiff.   The only fact alleged by Plaintiffs relates to T.W. and merely states Defendant

Cathcart “received and carried out orders to unlawfully place T.W. in a North Unit isolation

cell or physically restrain her.”  ¶ 154.   This statement does not permit the Court to infer

anything more than a “mere possibility of misconduct”, nor does it allow the court to
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reasonably infer the intent needed to satisfy the tort of battery, thus on the face of the

Complaint Plaintiffs have failed to show they are entitled to relief.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S.

at 679, citing F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6). 

IX. Plaintiffs’ allegations do not demonstrate intentional outrageous conduct 
on the part of Defendant Cathcart which would give rise to any reasonable
inference of Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress. 

In this Count, Plaintiffs allege Defendant Cathcart “intended to cause emotional

distress to Plaintiffs or acted in reckless disregard of the probably of causing emotional distress

to Plaintiffs.”  The elements of an IIED claim are: "(1) conduct that is extreme and outrageous,

(2) conduct that is intentional or reckless, and (3) conduct that causes severe emotional

distress." Thayer v. Herdt, 155 Vt. 448, 455 (1990). "An IIED claim can be sustained only

where the plaintiff demonstrates ‘outrageous conduct, done intentionally or with reckless

disregard of the probability of causing emotional distress, resulting in the suffering of extreme

emotional distress, actually or proximately caused by the outrageous conduct.’ " Colby v.

Umbrella, Inc., 2008 VT 20, ¶ 10, 184 Vt. 1 (quoting Boulton v. CLD Consulting Eng'rs,

Inc., 175 Vt. 413, 427 (2003)), Denton v. Chittenden Bank, 163 Vt. 62, 66 (1994).

The burden on one asserting the claim to prove outrageous conduct is "a heavy one." 

Denton, 163 Vt. at 66.  The claimed actor’s conduct must be outrageous, atrocious and utterly

intolerable.  The conduct must be so extreme in degree as to go beyond all possible bounds of

decent and tolerable conduct in a civilized community.  The standard for outrageousness is

objective. Therefore, the alleged conduct must be assessed with an objective standard based on

the alleged actions and words, not on what the complaining party personally believed

motivated the alleged conduct.  Cate v. City of Burlington, 2013 VT 64, ¶ 28 (emphasis
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added).  The Court determines, as a threshold matter, whether the trier of fact could reasonably

find that the alleged conduct was extreme and outrageous.  Denton, supra. 

The Vermont Supreme Court has refused to hold that an Intentional Infliction of

Emotional Distress claim can arise from a series of less-than-outrageous acts. See Denton

supra; Fromson v. State, 176 Vt. 395, 401 (2004); Dulude v. Fletcher Allen Health Care,

Inc., 174 Vt. 74, 84 (2002).  "A string of individually unactionable events cannot be taken

together to establish a prima facie case of IIED."  Fernot v. Crafts Inn, 895 F.Supp. 668, 684

(D.Vt. 1995). The rationale for this rule, as described in Denton, is that one cannot be on

notice as to what in a series of offensive-but-not-outrageous actions crosses a line into the

realm of outrage.  A party cannot combine a series of events without showing a significant

outrageous act.  Fromson, Id.  

In this case, Plaintiffs allege the “confinement, restraint, treatment and punishment”

were so outrageous and extreme as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency.  ¶ 287. 

Further, they allege the Defendants intended to cause or alternatively acted in reckless

disregard of the probability of causing emotional distress by repeatedly placing Plaintiffs in

insolation and restraining them was “outrageous” to the extent it caused Plaintiffs to suffer

from extreme emotional distress.  ¶¶ 290-291.   They cite to multiple occasions of restraint and

seclusion resulting from numerous Woodside Orders.  ¶ 152.  Thus, Plaintiff T.W. asserts she

was “repeatedly and unlawfully” secluded and subject to restraint.  ¶ 151.   Even assuming this

conduct could be identified as “extreme and outrageous”, which is denied, the Complaint fails

to offer facts of intentional or reckless behavior by Defendant Cathcart such that sever

emotional distress resulted.   Nor is there any fact asserted which offer any support to an
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assertion that Defendant Cathcart acted with “malice”.  ¶ 290.   In this Count, there is nothing

more than a “threadbare recital” of this Count with no “further factual enhancement” offered

by Plaintiffs and the claim is without facial plausibility.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678.  

The factual allegations do not give rise to an inference by a reasonable person that the

conduct was, in fact, outrageous, nor intentional.  There is nothing more than a general

allegation, as it relates to Defendant Cathcart, of intentional infliction of emotional distress

which is not sufficient to survive a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6). 

X. Plaintiffs’ claims against Defendant Cathcart do not assert facts which the 
Court could infer the actions of gross negligence and therefore must be 
dismissed. 

In Count Twelve Plaintiffs allege “grossly negligent and reckless supervision” and a

breach of the duty of care owed to Plaintiffs.  ¶ 296.  Plaintiffs state a duty of care was owed

“to ensure their custody was reasonably safe and to detect and correct problems that could

cause injury to Plaintiffs.”  ¶ 295.   Gross negligence is negligence that is “ ‘more than an error

of judgment’ ”; it is the failure to exercise “ ‘even a slight degree of care,’ ” owed to another.

Kane v. Lamothe, 2007 VT 91, ¶ 12, 182 Vt. 241 (quoting Hardingham v. United Counseling

Serv. of Bennington Cnty., 164 Vt. 478, 481 (1995), and Mellin v. Flood Brook Union Sch.

Dist., 173 Vt. 202, 220 (2001)).   To prove the standard of gross negligence Plaintiffs must

offer information and facts to support Defendants actions were a “heedless and palpable

violation of the legal duty respecting the rights of others.”  Kane, 182 Vt. At 248 (quoting

Shaw, Adm’r v. Moore, 104 Vt. 529, 531 (1932)).   While the finding of gross negligence is

usually a jury question, where reasonable people cannot differ, a motion to dismiss can dispose

of the issue.  
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Plaintiffs Complaint lacks necessary specificity of the actions to which they claim were

“grossly negligent” beyond the duty to keep Plaintiffs “reasonably safe” and “detect and

correct” problems that could cause injury.   ¶ 295.   Plaintiffs here will likely point to restraint,

seclusion and isolation as thoroughly outlined above, and the claims that the actions of the

Defendants, including Defendant Cathcart, fell below nationally recognized standards.  ¶ 45.

While Plaintiffs might assert Defendant Cathcart could have better responded to behaviors of

the detainees, or exercised his discretion differently, they have “failed to set forth a wholesale

absence of care or indifference to duty owed” to them which would state a viable claim for

gross negligence.  Kane v. Lamothe, 182 Vt. at 249.  

Plaintiffs Complaint does not offer any  factual allegation which would support an

inference that Defendant Cathcart failed to exercise “even a slight degree of care” as to any

Plaintiff.    Moreover, as it relates to Defendant Cathcart and the allegations set forth by

Plaintiff T.W., there is nothing more than “a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of

action”, with regard to gross negligence, therefore Plaintiffs fail to state a claim for relief that

is plausible on its face.  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555.  Conduct alleged by Plaintiffs by

Defendant Cathcart here is not even “merely consistent with” liability. Id. at 557. 

CONCLUSION

To survive a 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss, the Complaint must contain “enough facts to

state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570.  Plaintiffs’

Complaint as it relates to Defendant Cathcart consists of nothing more than “threadbare

recitals of a cause of action,” “unadorned, the-Defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me-

accusation[s],” or naked assertion[s] devoid of ‘further factual enhancement.’ ” Ashcroft, 556
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U.S. at 678.  Accordingly, it did not state a plausible claim for relief.  

WHEREFORE, Defendant WILLIAM CATHCART respectfully requests this

Honorable Court dismiss all claims asserted against him by Plaintiffs and for all such other

relief as this Honorable Court deems just and appropriate under the circumstances.  

Dated at Woodstock, Vermont this 25th  day of April, 2022.

/s/ Bonnie J. Badgewick                    
Bonnie J. Badgewick, Esq.
WOODSTOCK LAW, PC
43 Lincoln Corners Way, Suite 103
Woodstock, Vermont 05091
802.457.2123 
bbadgewick@woodstockvtlaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT
WILLIAM CATHCART
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE 

DISTRICT OF VERMONT

CATHY WELCH, ADMINISTRATOR OF THE 
ESTATE OF G.W., R.H., T.W., T.F., 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE  

DISTRICT OF VERMONT 
 
KATHY WELCH, ADMINISTRATOR ) 
OF THE ESTATE OF G.W., et al.,  )  
      ) 

 Plaintiffs,   )  
      )  
 v.     ) Civil Case No. 5:21-cv-283 
      )    
KENNETH SCHATZ, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
    Defendants.   ) 
 

DEFENDANT MARCUS BUNNELL’S MOTION TO DISMISS 
 

 NOW COMES Defendant Marcus Bunnell, by and through his attorneys, McNeil, Leddy 

& Sheahan, P.C., pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 8 and 12(b)(6), hereby moving to 

dismiss all claims against him.  Plaintiffs have employed impermissible “group pleading” in their 

Complaint and have otherwise failed to plausibly state a claim against Defendant Bunnell upon 

which relief may be granted. 

INTRODUCTION 
 

Defendant Bunnell is only mentioned in three paragraphs of Plaintiffs’ 297-paragraph 

Complaint.  Plaintiffs allege Defendant Bunnell was among Defendants who “requested and/or 

received and carried out the orders to unlawfully place T.W. in a North Unit isolation cell or 

physically restrain her.”  (Doc. 1 ¶ 154).  Plaintiffs also allege that on June 27, 2018, T.F. was 

restrained by Defendants Bunnell and Piette, and dragged across the floor by her feet to her cell 

with Bunnell on top of her, and that based on a video recording, “Bunnell appeared angry, 

agitated, and aggressive.”  (Id. ¶¶ 175, 177).  There are no further allegations directed at 

Defendant Bunnell.  Moreover, he is not even mentioned in relation to any claims brought by five 

of the seven Plaintiffs:  Welch, R.H., D.H., B.C., and A.L.      
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ARGUMENT 
 

I. STANDARD GOVERNING MOTIONS TO DISMISS 
 

 “The standard for reviewing a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is well-known.”  

Wyatt v. City of Barre/Barre City Fire Dep’t, 2012 WL 1435708, *2 (D. Vt. 2012).  “To survive a 

motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a 

claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal 

quotation marks omitted).  “Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the 

speculative level on the assumption that all the allegations in the complaint are true (even if 

doubtful in fact).”  Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (citations omitted).  

 “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the 

court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”  

Amaker v. New York State Dep’t of Correctional Services, 435 Fed. Appx. 52, 54 (2d Cir. 2011) 

(internal quotation marks omitted).  This “plausibility standard . . . is guided by [t]wo working 

principles.”  Harris v. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72 (2d Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks omitted).  

Citing Twombly, the U.S. Supreme Court explained: 

First, the tenet that a court must accept as true all of the allegations contained in a 
complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusions.  Threadbare recitals of the elements 
of a cause of action, supported by merely conclusory statements, do not suffice. . . .  
Second, only a complaint that states a plausible claim for relief survives a motion 
to dismiss.  Determining whether a complaint states a plausible claim for relief will 
. . . be a context-specific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial 
experience and common sense.  But where the well-pleaded facts do not permit the 
court to infer more than the mere possibility of misconduct, the complaint has 
alleged—but it has not show[n]—that the pleader is entitled to relief. 
 

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).  “[W]e do not require 

heightened fact pleading of specifics, but only enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible 
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on its face.”  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570.  When plaintiffs “have not nudged their claims across the 

line from conceivable to plausible, their complaint[s] must be dismissed.”  Id. 

II. ALL CLAIMS BY PLAINTIFFS WELCH, R.H., D.H., B.C., AND A.L. 
AGAINST DEFENDANT BUNNELL MUST BE DISMISSED 

 
Plaintiffs’ Complaint contains no allegations from Welch, R.H., D.H., B.C. or A.L. 

against Defendant Bunnell.  The “Factual Background” allegations related to each of these 

Plaintiffs makes no reference to him.  For this reason, these Plaintiffs cannot state a plausible 

claim and these five Plaintiffs’ claims should be dismissed as to Defendant Bunnell. 

III. PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT IS AN IMPROPER “SHOTGUN PLEADING” 
LACKING SUFFICIENT NOTICE TO DEFENDANT BUNNELL 

   A complaint under Fed. R. Civ. P. 8 must give each defendant fair notice of the claims 

asserted against him.  See Simmons v. Abruzzo, 49 F.3d 83, 86 (2d Cir. 1995).  Plaintiffs here 

have impermissibly relied on group pleading in their Complaint, lumping all Defendants together 

in each Count except for Count Seven.  (Doc. 1, pp. 25-32).  Plaintiffs have named 22 individual 

Defendants.  While Plaintiffs’ Complaint begins with an introductory paragraph and then sets out 

220 paragraphs of allegations, all but one of their 12 causes of action lump all 22 Defendants 

together, the result being that Defendants have inadequate notice of the specific claims against 

them.  This is an improper “shotgun pleading” containing multiple counts adopting allegations of 

all preceding counts, replete with conclusory allegations, and asserting multiple claims against 

multiple Defendants without specifying which Defendant is responsible for which act.  Weiland 

v. Palm Beach Cty. Sheriff’s Office, 792 F.3d 1313, 1320 (11th Cir. 2015).  Defendant Bunnell’s 

inclusion in the group pleading provides him with inadequate notice of the grounds upon which 

Plaintiffs’ claims against him rest, especially given the sparse reference to him in the Complaint.  

For this reason, Plaintiffs’ purported claims against Defendant Bunnell should be dismissed.   
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IV. PLAINTIFFS’ COUNT SEVEN SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS TO 
DEFENDANT BUNNELL BECAUSE IT IS NOT DIRECTED AT HIM 

While Plaintiffs employ group or “lumped” pleading in most Counts in their Complaint, 

in Count Seven Plaintiffs specifically name Defendants Schatz, Dale, D’Amico, Longchamp, 

Harriman, and Wolcott.  Plaintiffs do not name Defendant Bunnell and indeed they make no 

allegations against him regarding the Natchez Trace Youth Academy.  Because Count Seven is 

not directed at Defendant Bunnell, he should be dismissed as to this Count. 

V. PLAINTIFFS FAIL TO STATE A PLAUSIBLE CLAIM FOR CONSPIRACY 
UNDER 42 U.S.C. § 1985 AGAINST DEFENDANT BUNNELL 

Plaintiffs state merely conclusory allegations in support of their conspiracy claims under 

42 U.S.C. § 1985, set forth in Counts One, Two, Three, and Eight.  (Doc. 1, pp. 25-26, 30).  They 

have not alleged any evidence of a concerted plan or agreement between any Defendants, 

especially Defendant Bunnell, and they have not alleged any facts to suggest, let alone support, an 

agreement or meeting of the minds among Defendants.  For this reason, Plaintiffs’ conspiracy 

claims must be dismissed. 

  While Plaintiffs do not specifically allege the subsection of 42 U.S.C. § 1985 under which 

they bring their conspiracy claims, it is assumed for purposes of this Motion that their claim is 

brought under § 1985(3) regarding an alleged deprivation of rights or privileges.  “In order to state 

a conspiracy claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3), a plaintiff must show: (1) a conspiracy; (2) for the 

purpose of depriving, either directly or indirectly, any person or class of persons of the equal 

protection of the laws, or of equal privileges and immunities under the laws; (3) an act in 

furtherance of the conspiracy; (4) whereby a person is either injured in his person or property or 

deprived of any right or privilege of a citizen of the United States.”  Cine SK8, Inc. v. Town of 

Henrietta, 507 F.3d 778, 791 (2d Cir. 2007) (citation omitted).  “A § 1985(3) conspiracy must also 
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be motivated by some racial or perhaps otherwise class-based, invidious discriminatory animus 

behind the conspirators' action.”  Id. (citation omitted).  Conclusory, vague, or general allegations 

of conspiracy to deprive a plaintiff of constitutional rights cannot withstand a motion to dismiss.  

Sommer v. Dixon, 709 F.2d 173, 175 (2d Cir. 1983).  Allegations that are vague and unsupported 

by a description of particular overt facts will not survive a motion to dismiss.  Id. at 175.     

At the pleading stage Plaintiffs must at least assert factual allegations against Defendant 

Bunnell that plausibly state a claim of § 1985(3) conspiracy.  Plaintiffs allege no class-based, 

invidious discriminatory animus on the part of Defendant Bunnell.  The Complaint contains no 

allegation that Defendant Bunnell came to any agreement with other Defendants or that he acted 

in furtherance of any conspiracy.  For these reasons, Plaintiffs’ conspiracy claims in Counts One, 

Two, Three, and Eight of the Complaint are devoid of any factual support and therefore should be 

dismissed as to Defendant Bunnell.  

VI. PLAINTIFFS’ COUNTS FOUR, FIVE, AND SIX, WHICH MAY BE 
ANALYZED SIMILARLY, NONETHELESS DO NOT STATE A PLAUSBILE 
CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIM AGAINST DEFENDANT BUNNELL 

Plaintiffs’ Counts Four, Five, and Six allege constitutional violations under the Eighth and 

Fourteenth Amendments.  Because Plaintiffs in this case were juveniles in non-criminal custody 

at Woodside, these claims may be similarly analyzed under the Fourteenth Amendment and its 

due process requirements.   

“The Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment ‘applies only 

after the State has complied with the constitutional guarantees traditionally associated with 

criminal prosecutions…. [T]he State does not acquire the power to punish with which the Eighth 

Amendment is concerned until after it has secured a formal adjudication of guilt in accordance 

with due process of law.’”  G.B. ex rel. T.B. v. Carrion, No. 09-CV-10582, 2012 WL 13071817, 
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     By: /s/ Joseph A. Farnham      
      Joseph A. Farnham, Esq. 
      271 South Union Street 
      Burlington, VT 05401 
      (802) 863-4531 
      jfarnham@mcneilvt.com 
 

Attorneys for Defendant Marcus Bunnell 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE  

DISTRICT OF VERMONT 
 
KATHY WELCH, ADMINISTRATOR ) 
OF THE ESTATE OF G.W., et al.,  )  
      ) 

 Plaintiffs,   )  
      )  
 v.     ) Civil Case No. 5:21-cv-283 
      )    
KENNETH SCHATZ, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
    Defendants.   ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 We hereby certify that on April 25, 2022, we electronically filed Defendant John Dubac’s 

Motion to Dismiss, Defendant Kevin Hatin’s Motion to Dismiss and Defendant Marcus Bunnell’s 

Motion to Dismiss with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system which will send notification 

of such filing to counsel of record in the case. 

DATED at Burlington, Vermont this 25th day of April 2022. 

      McNEIL, LEDDY & SHEAHAN, P.C. 
 
 
     By: /s/ Michael J. Leddy      
      Michael J. Leddy, Esq. 
      271 South Union Street 
      Burlington, VT 05401 
      (802) 863-4531 
      mleddy@mcneilvt.com 
 
 
     By: /s/ Joseph A. Farnham      
      Joseph A. Farnham, Esq. 
      271 South Union Street 
      Burlington, VT 05401 
      (802) 863-4531 
      jfarnham@mcneilvt.com 
 

Attorneys for Defendants John Dubuc, Kevin Hattin 
and Marcus Bunnell 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE  

DISTRICT OF VERMONT 
 
KATHY WELCH, ADMINISTRATOR ) 
OF THE ESTATE OF G.W., et al.,  )  
      ) 

 Plaintiffs,   )  
      )  
 v.     ) Civil Case No. 5:21-cv-283 
      )    
KENNETH SCHATZ, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
    Defendants.   ) 
 
 

DEFENDANT JOHN DUBUC’S MOTION TO DISMISS 
 

 NOW COMES Defendant John Dubuc, by and through his attorneys, McNeil, Leddy & 

Sheahan, P.C., pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 8 and 12(b)(6), hereby moving to 

dismiss all claims against him.  Plaintiffs have employed impermissible “group pleading” in their 

Complaint and have otherwise failed to plausibly state a claim against Defendant Dubuc upon 

which relief may be granted. 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
Plaintiffs’ allegations against Defendant Dubuc are limited.  Plaintiffs allege that in 2017 

he sent an email regarding a decision that Plaintiff D.H. would benefit from increased support 

and lower stimulation in a North Unit cell.  (Doc. 1 ¶ 129).  Plaintiffs allege that on April 17, 

2018, Defendant Dubuc let Woodside staff into R.H.’s isolation cell, equipped with a riot shield, 

and staff “restrained him face down on his bed, and cut off R.H.’s clothing.  R.H. spent the 

remainder of the night dressed only in his shorts.”  (Id. ¶ 139).  Defendant Dubuc was among 

Defendants who “requested and/or received and carried out the orders to unlawfully place T.W. 

in a North Unit isolation cell or physically restrain her.”  (Id.¶ 154).  Finally, Plaintiffs allege that 
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Dubuc ordered A.L. into the North Unit but later claimed A.L. voluntarily agreed to the decision.  

(Id. ¶ 201).  These are the extent of the allegations against Defendant Dubuc.  He is not 

mentioned in any claims brought by three of the seven Plaintiffs:  Welch, T.F., and B.C.    

ARGUMENT 
 

I. STANDARD GOVERNING MOTIONS TO DISMISS 
 

 “The standard for reviewing a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is well-known.”  

Wyatt v. City of Barre/Barre City Fire Dep’t, 2012 WL 1435708, *2 (D. Vt. 2012).  “To survive a 

motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a 

claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal 

quotation marks omitted).  “Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the 

speculative level on the assumption that all the allegations in the complaint are true (even if 

doubtful in fact).”  Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (citations omitted).  

 “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the 

court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”  

Amaker v. New York State Dep’t of Correctional Services, 435 Fed. Appx. 52, 54 (2d Cir. 2011) 

(internal quotation marks omitted).  This “plausibility standard . . . is guided by [t]wo working 

principles.”  Harris v. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72 (2d Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks omitted).  

Citing Twombly, the U.S. Supreme Court explained: 

First, the tenet that a court must accept as true all of the allegations contained in a 
complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusions.  Threadbare recitals of the elements 
of a cause of action, supported by merely conclusory statements, do not suffice. . . .  
Second, only a complaint that states a plausible claim for relief survives a motion 
to dismiss.  Determining whether a complaint states a plausible claim for relief will 
. . . be a context-specific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial 
experience and common sense.  But where the well-pleaded facts do not permit the 
court to infer more than the mere possibility of misconduct, the complaint has 
alleged—but it has not show[n]—that the pleader is entitled to relief. 
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Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).  “[W]e do not require 

heightened fact pleading of specifics, but only enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible 

on its face.”  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570.  When plaintiffs “have not nudged their claims across the 

line from conceivable to plausible, their complaint[s] must be dismissed.”  Id. 

II. ALL CLAIMS BY PLAINTIFFS WELCH, T.F., AND B.C. AGAINST 
DEFENDANT DUBUC MUST BE DISMISSED 

 
Plaintiffs’ Complaint contains no allegations from Welch, T.F., or B.C. against Defendant 

Dubuc.  The “Factual Background” allegations related to each of these Plaintiffs makes no 

reference to Defendant Dubuc.  The omission of any reference to Defendant Dubuc in relation to 

these Plaintiffs is fatal to their claims against him.  They cannot state a plausible claim for relief 

absent any allegation of his personal involvement.  For this reason, these Plaintiffs’ claims should 

be dismissed as to Defendant Dubuc. 

III. PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT IS AN IMPROPER “SHOTGUN PLEADING” 
LACKING SUFFICIENT NOTICE TO DEFENDANT DUBUC 

   A complaint under Fed. R. Civ. P. 8 must give each defendant fair notice of the claims 

asserted against him.  See Simmons v. Abruzzo, 49 F.3d 83, 86 (2d Cir. 1995).  Plaintiffs here 

have impermissibly relied on group pleading in their Complaint, lumping all Defendants together 

in each Count except for Count Seven.  (Doc. 1, pp. 25-32).  Plaintiffs have named 22 individual 

Defendants.  While Plaintiffs’ Complaint begins with an introductory paragraph and then sets out 

220 paragraphs of allegations, all but one of their 12 causes of action lump all 22 Defendants 

together, the result being that Defendants have inadequate notice of the specific claims against 

them.  This is an improper “shotgun pleading” containing multiple counts adopting allegations of 

all preceding counts, replete with conclusory allegations, and asserting multiple claims against 

multiple Defendants without specifying which Defendant is responsible for which act.  Weiland 
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v. Palm Beach Cty. Sheriff’s Office, 792 F.3d 1313, 1320 (11th Cir. 2015).  Defendant Dubuc’s 

inclusion in the group pleading provides him with inadequate notice of the grounds upon which 

Plaintiffs’ claims against him rest, especially given the sparse reference to him in the Complaint.  

For this reason, Plaintiffs’ purported claims against Defendant Dubuc should be dismissed, or at 

the least Plaintiffs should be required to plead a more definite statement of their claims against 

him.   

IV. PLAINTIFFS’ COUNT SEVEN SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS TO 
DEFENDANT DUBUC BECAUSE IT IS NOT DIRECTED AT HIM 

While Plaintiffs employ group or “lumped” pleading in most Counts in their Complaint, 

in Count Seven Plaintiffs specifically name Defendants Schatz, Dale, D’Amico, Longchamp, 

Harriman, and Wolcott.  Plaintiffs do not name Defendant Dubuc and indeed they make no 

allegations against him regarding the Natchez Trace Youth Academy.  Because Count Seven is 

not directed at Defendant Dubuc, he should be dismissed as to this Count. 

V. PLAINTIFFS FAIL TO STATE A PLAUSIBLE CLAIM FOR CONSPIRACY 
UNDER 42 U.S.C. § 1985 AGAINST DEFENDANT DUBUC 

Plaintiffs state merely conclusory allegations in support of their conspiracy claims under 

42 U.S.C. § 1985, set forth in Counts One, Two, Three, and Eight.  (Doc. 1, pp. 25-26, 30).  They 

have not alleged any evidence of a concerted plan or agreement between any Defendants, 

especially Defendant Dubuc, and they have not alleged any facts to suggest, let alone support, an 

agreement or meeting of the minds among Defendants.  For this reason, Plaintiffs’ conspiracy 

claims must be dismissed. 

  While Plaintiffs do not specifically allege the subsection of 42 U.S.C. § 1985 under which 

they bring their conspiracy claims, it is assumed for purposes of this Motion that their claim is 

brought under § 1985(3) regarding an alleged deprivation of rights or privileges.  “In order to state 
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a conspiracy claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3), a plaintiff must show: (1) a conspiracy; (2) for the 

purpose of depriving, either directly or indirectly, any person or class of persons of the equal 

protection of the laws, or of equal privileges and immunities under the laws; (3) an act in 

furtherance of the conspiracy; (4) whereby a person is either injured in his person or property or 

deprived of any right or privilege of a citizen of the United States.”  Cine SK8, Inc. v. Town of 

Henrietta, 507 F.3d 778, 791 (2d Cir. 2007) (citation omitted).  “A § 1985(3) conspiracy must also 

be motivated by some racial or perhaps otherwise class-based, invidious discriminatory animus 

behind the conspirators' action.”  Id. (citation omitted).  Conclusory, vague, or general allegations 

of conspiracy to deprive a plaintiff of constitutional rights cannot withstand a motion to dismiss.  

Sommer v. Dixon, 709 F.2d 173, 175 (2d Cir. 1983).  Allegations that are vague and unsupported 

by a description of particular overt facts will not survive a motion to dismiss.  Id. at 175.     

At the pleading stage Plaintiffs must at least assert factual allegations against Defendant 

Dubuc that plausibly state a claim of § 1985(3) conspiracy.  Plaintiffs allege no class-based, 

invidious discriminatory animus on the part of Defendant Dubuc.  The Complaint contains no 

allegation that Defendant Dubuc came to any agreement with other Defendants or that he acted in 

furtherance of any conspiracy.  For these reasons, Plaintiffs’ conspiracy claims in Counts One, 

Two, Three, and Eight of the Complaint are devoid of any factual support and therefore should be 

dismissed as to Defendant Dubuc.  

VI. PLAINTIFFS’ COUNTS FOUR, FIVE, AND SIX, WHICH MAY BE 
ANALYZED SIMILARLY, NONETHELESS DO NOT STATE A PLAUSBILE 
CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIM AGAINST DEFENDANT DUBUC 

Plaintiffs’ Counts Four, Five, and Six allege constitutional violations under the Eighth and 

Fourteenth Amendments.  Because Plaintiffs in this case were juveniles in non-criminal custody 
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at Woodside, these claims may be similarly analyzed under the Fourteenth Amendment and its 

due process requirements.   

“The Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment ‘applies only 

after the State has complied with the constitutional guarantees traditionally associated with 

criminal prosecutions…. [T]he State does not acquire the power to punish with which the Eighth 

Amendment is concerned until after it has secured a formal adjudication of guilt in accordance 

with due process of law.’”  G.B. ex rel. T.B. v. Carrion, No. 09-CV-10582, 2012 WL 13071817, 

*16 n. 27 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 1, 2012) (quoting DeShaney v. Winnebago Cty. Dep’t of Social Servs., 

489 U.S. 189, 199 n.6 (1989)).  “Therefore, the Eighth Amendment ban on cruel and unusual 

punishment is inapplicable in this case.”  Jackson v. Johnson, 118 F. Supp. 2d 278, 287 

(N.D.N.Y. 2000).  As alleged in the Complaint and citing the recently repealed Vermont statute 

33 V.S.A. § 5801, DCF’s Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center was a facility for 

“adolescents who have been adjudicated or charged with delinquency or criminal act.”  (Doc. 1, ¶ 

32).  Plaintiffs all allege they were detained a Woodside Juvenile Detention Center (Doc. 1, ¶¶ 

119, 132, 150, 159, 173, 184, and 195).  Under Vermont law, an order of the Family Division of 

the Superior Court in a juvenile delinquency proceeding shall not be deemed a conviction of a 

crime or impose any civil disabilities sanctions ordinarily resulting from a conviction.  33 V.S.A. 

§ 5202.  Thus, all Plaintiffs were held at Woodside “in non-criminal custody as juveniles.”  G.B. 

ex rel. T.B. v. Carrion, No. 09-CV-10582, 2012 WL 13071817, *16 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 1, 2012) 

(citing analogous New York statute).  Therefore, the Eighth Amendment is inapplicable and 

Plaintiffs’ claims regarding their detention at Woodside are properly analyzed under the 

Fourteenth Amendment’s due process requirements.  Because Plaintiffs alleged claims under the 
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CONCLUSION 
 

 WHEREFORE, for the reasons stated above, and the reasons for dismissal set forth in the 

other Defendants’ motions, Defendant John Dubuc respectfully requests that this Court dismiss 

with prejudice all of Plaintiffs’ claims against him and dismiss him as a party to this litigation. 

  

DATED at Burlington, Vermont this 25th day of April 2022. 

      McNEIL, LEDDY & SHEAHAN, P.C. 
 
 
     By: /s/ Michael J. Leddy      
      Michael J. Leddy, Esq. 
      271 South Union Street 
      Burlington, VT 05401 
      (802) 863-4531 
      mleddy@mcneilvt.com 
 
 
     By: /s/ Joseph A. Farnham      
      Joseph A. Farnham, Esq. 
      271 South Union Street 
      Burlington, VT 05401 
      (802) 863-4531 
      jfarnham@mcneilvt.com 
 
      Attorneys for Defendant John Dubuc 
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 v.     ) Civil Case No. 5:21-cv-283 
      )    
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 We hereby certify that on April 25, 2022, we electronically filed Defendant John Dubac’s 

Motion to Dismiss, Defendant Kevin Hatin’s Motion to Dismiss and Defendant Marcus Bunnell’s 

Motion to Dismiss with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system which will send notification 

of such filing to counsel of record in the case. 

DATED at Burlington, Vermont this 25th day of April 2022. 

      McNEIL, LEDDY & SHEAHAN, P.C. 
 
 
     By: /s/ Michael J. Leddy      
      Michael J. Leddy, Esq. 
      271 South Union Street 
      Burlington, VT 05401 
      (802) 863-4531 
      mleddy@mcneilvt.com 
 
 
     By: /s/ Joseph A. Farnham      
      Joseph A. Farnham, Esq. 
      271 South Union Street 
      Burlington, VT 05401 
      (802) 863-4531 
      jfarnham@mcneilvt.com 
 

Attorneys for Defendants John Dubuc, Kevin Hattin 
and Marcus Bunnell 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE  

DISTRICT OF VERMONT 
 
KATHY WELCH, ADMINISTRATOR ) 
OF THE ESTATE OF G.W., et al.,  )  
      ) 

 Plaintiffs,   )  
      )  
 v.     ) Civil Case No. 5:21-cv-283 
      )    
KENNETH SCHATZ, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
    Defendants.   ) 
 
 

DEFENDANT KEVIN HATIN’S MOTION TO DISMISS 
 

 NOW COMES Defendant Kevin Hatin, by and through his attorneys, McNeil, Leddy & 

Sheahan, P.C., pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 8 and 12(b)(6), hereby moving to 

dismiss all claims against him.  Plaintiffs have employed impermissible “group pleading” in their 

Complaint and have otherwise failed to plausibly state a claim against Defendant Hatin upon which 

relief may be granted. 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
To say that Plaintiffs’ allegations against Defendant Hatin are sparse would be an 

understatement.  Out of a 297-paragraph Complaint, Hatin is named in only three paragraphs.  He 

is not mentioned in any claims brought by five of the seven Plaintiffs:  Welch, T.W., T.F., D.H., 

and A.L.    

As alleged in Plaintiffs’ Complaint, Defendant Hatin was Operations Supervisor at the 

Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center in Essex, Vermont.  (Doc. 1 ¶ 13).  It is alleged that 

Hatin appeared in a video of an incident during which he and two other male staffers entered a 

room and struggled to restrain a detainee.  (Id. ¶ 72).  The next paragraph, Paragraph 73 of the 
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Complaint, refers to “B.C.” and so the detainee in the video may be assumed to be Plaintiff B.C.  

Later in the Complaint it is alleged that “on August 25, 2018, Defendant Hatin and two other 

male Woodside staff members entered B.C.’s North Unit isolation cell and, with the assistance of 

Defendant Ruggles, pinned her to the floor and forcibly removed her clothing, leaving her 

buttocks and vulva exposed.”  (Id. ¶ 186).  It is unclear whether this refers to the same incident as 

that referred to in Paragraph 72 of the Complaint.   

The only other allegation is by Plaintiff R.H., who alleges that over the course of nine 

months in 2018, he was physically restrained about ten times “during which Woodside staff, 

including Defendants Hatin, Weiner, Martinez, and Rochon, employed the pain compliance 

techniques developed by Defendant Simons.”  (Id. ¶ 143).  Plaintiff does not allege when 

Defendant Hatin specifically deployed the pain compliance techniques, what techniques were 

deployed, for how long they were used during each incident, nor under what circumstances.  

ARGUMENT 
 

I. STANDARD GOVERNING MOTIONS TO DISMISS 
 

 “The standard for reviewing a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is well-known.”  

Wyatt v. City of Barre/Barre City Fire Dep’t, 2012 WL 1435708, *2 (D. Vt. 2012).  “To survive a 

motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a 

claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal 

quotation marks omitted).  “Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the 

speculative level on the assumption that all the allegations in the complaint are true (even if 

doubtful in fact).”  Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (citations omitted).  

 “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the 

court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”  
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Amaker v. New York State Dep’t of Correctional Services, 435 Fed. Appx. 52, 54 (2d Cir. 2011) 

(internal quotation marks omitted).  This “plausibility standard . . . is guided by [t]wo working 

principles.”  Harris v. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72 (2d Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks omitted).  

Citing Twombly, the U.S. Supreme Court explained: 

First, the tenet that a court must accept as true all of the allegations contained in a 
complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusions.  Threadbare recitals of the elements 
of a cause of action, supported by merely conclusory statements, do not suffice. . . .  
Second, only a complaint that states a plausible claim for relief survives a motion 
to dismiss.  Determining whether a complaint states a plausible claim for relief will 
. . . be a context-specific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial 
experience and common sense.  But where the well-pleaded facts do not permit the 
court to infer more than the mere possibility of misconduct, the complaint has 
alleged—but it has not show[n]—that the pleader is entitled to relief. 
 

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).  “[W]e do not require 

heightened fact pleading of specifics, but only enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible 

on its face.”  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570.  When plaintiffs “have not nudged their claims across the 

line from conceivable to plausible, their complaint[s] must be dismissed.”  Id. 

II. ALL CLAIMS BY PLAINTIFFS WELCH, T.W., T.F., D.H., AND A.L. MUST 
BE DISMISSED AS AGAINST DEFENDANT HATIN 

 
Plaintiffs’ Complaint contains no allegations from Welch, T.W., T.F., D.H., or A.L. 

against Defendant Hatin.  The “Factual Background” allegations related to each of these 

Plaintiffs make no reference to Defendant Hatin, nor is he otherwise referenced regarding any of 

these Plaintiffs.  In the absence of any allegations involving Defendant Hatin, these Plaintiffs 

cannot state any plausible claim for relief against him.  For this reason, these Plaintiffs’ claims 

should be dismissed as to Hatin. 
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III. PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT IS AN IMPROPER “SHOTGUN PLEADING” 
LACKING SUFFICIENT NOTICE TO DEFENDANT HATIN 

   A complaint under Fed. R. Civ. P. 8 must give each defendant fair notice of the claims 

asserted against him.  See Simmons v. Abruzzo, 49 F.3d 83, 86 (2d Cir. 1995).  Plaintiffs here 

have impermissibly relied on group pleading in their Complaint, lumping all Defendants together 

in each Count except for Count Seven.  (Doc. 1, pp. 25-32).  Plaintiffs have named 22 individual 

Defendants.  While Plaintiffs’ Complaint begins with an introductory paragraph and then sets out 

220 paragraphs of allegations, all but one of their 12 causes of action lump all 22 Defendants 

together, the result being that Defendants have inadequate notice of the specific claims against 

them.  This is an improper “shotgun pleading” containing multiple counts adopting allegations of 

all preceding counts, replete with conclusory allegations, and asserting multiple claims against 

multiple Defendants without specifying which Defendant is responsible for which act.  Weiland 

v. Palm Beach Cty. Sheriff’s Office, 792 F.3d 1313, 1320 (11th Cir. 2015).  Defendant Hatin’s 

inclusion in the group pleading provides him with inadequate notice of the grounds upon which 

Plaintiffs’ claims against him rest, especially given the sparse reference to him in the Complaint.  

For this reason, Plaintiffs’ purported claims against Defendant Hatin should be dismissed.   

IV. PLAINTIFFS’ COUNT SEVEN SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS TO 
DEFENDANT HATIN BECAUSE IT IS NOT DIRECTED AT HIM 

While Plaintiffs employ group or “lumped” pleading in most Counts of their Complaint, 

in Count Seven Plaintiffs specifically name Defendants Schatz, Dale, D’Amico, Longchamp, 

Harriman, and Wolcott.  Plaintiffs do not name Defendant Hatin and indeed they make no 

allegations against him regarding the Natchez Trace Youth Academy.  Because Count Seven is 

not directed at Defendant Hatin, he should be dismissed as to this Count. 

 

Case 5:21-cv-00283-gwc   Document 56   Filed 04/25/22   Page 4 of 13



 

5 
 

V. PLAINTIFFS FAIL TO STATE A PLAUSIBLE CLAIM FOR CONSPIRACY 
UNDER 42 U.S.C. § 1985 AGAINST DEFENDANT HATIN 

Plaintiffs state only conclusory allegations in support of their conspiracy claims under 42 

U.S.C. § 1985, set forth in Counts One, Two, Three, and Eight.  (Doc. 1, pp. 25-26, 30).  They 

have not alleged any evidence of a concerted plan or agreement between any Defendants, 

especially Defendant Hatin, and they have not alleged any facts to suggest, let alone support, an 

agreement or meeting of the minds among Defendants.  For this reason, Plaintiffs’ conspiracy 

claims must be dismissed. 

  While Plaintiffs do not specifically allege the subsection of 42 U.S.C. § 1985 under which 

they bring their conspiracy claims, it is assumed for purposes of this Motion that their claim is 

brought under § 1985(3) regarding an alleged deprivation of rights or privileges.  “In order to state 

a conspiracy claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3), a plaintiff must show: (1) a conspiracy; (2) for the 

purpose of depriving, either directly or indirectly, any person or class of persons of the equal 

protection of the laws, or of equal privileges and immunities under the laws; (3) an act in 

furtherance of the conspiracy; (4) whereby a person is either injured in his person or property or 

deprived of any right or privilege of a citizen of the United States.”  Cine SK8, Inc. v. Town of 

Henrietta, 507 F.3d 778, 791 (2d Cir. 2007) (citation omitted).  “A § 1985(3) conspiracy must also 

be motivated by some racial or perhaps otherwise class-based, invidious discriminatory animus 

behind the conspirators' action.”  Id. (citation omitted).  Conclusory, vague, or general allegations 

of conspiracy to deprive a plaintiff of constitutional rights cannot withstand a motion to dismiss.  

Sommer v. Dixon, 709 F.2d 173, 175 (2d Cir. 1983).  Allegations that are vague and unsupported 

by a description of particular overt facts will not survive a motion to dismiss.  Id. at 175.     

At the pleading stage Plaintiffs must at least assert factual allegations against Defendant 

Hatin that plausibly state a claim of § 1985(3) conspiracy.  Plaintiffs allege no class-based, 
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invidious discriminatory animus on the part of Defendant Hatin.  The Complaint contains no 

allegation that he came to any agreement with other Defendants or that he acted in furtherance of 

any conspiracy.  For these reasons, Plaintiffs’ conspiracy claims in Counts One, Two, Three, and 

Eight of the Complaint are devoid of any factual support and therefore should be dismissed as to 

Defendant Hatin.  

VI. PLAINTIFFS’ COUNTS FOUR, FIVE, AND SIX, WHICH MAY BE 
ANALYZED SIMILARLY, NONETHELESS DO NOT STATE A PLAUSBILE 
CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIM AGAINST DEFENDANT HATIN 

Plaintiffs’ Counts Four, Five, and Six allege constitutional violations under the Eighth and 

Fourteenth Amendments.  Because Plaintiffs in this case were juveniles in non-criminal custody 

at Woodside, these claims may be similarly analyzed under the Fourteenth Amendment and its 

due process requirements.   

“The Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment ‘applies only 

after the State has complied with the constitutional guarantees traditionally associated with 

criminal prosecutions…. [T]he State does not acquire the power to punish with which the Eighth 

Amendment is concerned until after it has secured a formal adjudication of guilt in accordance 

with due process of law.’”  G.B. ex rel. T.B. v. Carrion, No. 09-CV-10582, 2012 WL 13071817, 

*16 n. 27 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 1, 2012) (quoting DeShaney v. Winnebago Cty. Dep’t of Social Servs., 

489 U.S. 189, 199 n.6 (1989)).  “Therefore, the Eighth Amendment ban on cruel and unusual 

punishment is inapplicable in this case.”  Jackson v. Johnson, 118 F. Supp. 2d 278, 287 

(N.D.N.Y. 2000).  As alleged in the Complaint and citing the recently repealed Vermont statute 

33 V.S.A. § 5801, DCF’s Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center was a facility for 

“adolescents who have been adjudicated or charged with delinquency or criminal act.”  (Doc. 1 ¶ 

32).  Plaintiffs all allege they were detained a Woodside Juvenile Detention Center (Doc. 1 ¶¶ 
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VIII. PLAINTIFFS DO NOT STATE PLAUSIBLE STATE LAW CLAIMS 
AGAINST DEFENDANT HATIN  

Plaintiffs’ state law claims (Counts Ten, Eleven, and Twelve) are insufficiently pled as 

against Defendant Hatin.   

As for Plaintiffs’ assault and battery claim in Count Ten, Plaintiffs allege that 

“Defendants repeatedly placed [Plaintiffs] in isolation cells in the North Unit and physically 

assaulted them.”  (Doc. 1 ¶ 282).  This generalized allegation lumping all Defendants together is 

insufficient to state a plausible claim of assault and battery against Defendant Hatin.  Even if the 

minimal allegations against Defendant Hatin specifically regarding two of the Plaintiffs were 

deemed sufficient to state a claim for assault and battery, he is nonetheless entitled to qualified 

immunity as set forth below.  

To state their claim for intentional infliction of emotional harm (Count Eleven), Plaintiffs 

must show “outrageous conduct, done intentionally or with reckless disregard of the probability 

of causing emotional distress, resulting in the suffering of extreme emotional distress, actually or 

proximately caused by the outrageous conduct.”  Fromson v. State, 2004 VT 29, ¶ 14, 176 Vt. 

395 (internal quotation omitted); see also Crowell v. Kirkpatrick, 667 F. Supp. 2d 391, 416 (D. 

Vt. 2009).  Plaintiffs’ burden is a heavy one and requires Plaintiffs to show conduct “so 

outrageous in character and so extreme in degree as to go beyond all possible bounds of decent 

and tolerable conduct in a civilized community and be regarded as atrocious and utterly 

intolerable.”  Id.  The test for outrageousness is objective and the court makes the initial 

determination as to whether the alleged conduct satisfies the test.  Id. at ¶¶ 14-15.  Plaintiffs’ 

allegations as to Defendant Hatin fail this test.  The extent of Plaintiffs’ allegations against Hatin 

are that he and other staffers struggled to restrain a detainee (assumed to be B.C.) (Doc. 1 ¶ 72) 

and on one occasion, which may have been the same incident, he and two other male Woodside 
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621, 630, 587 A.2d 975 (1991) (“Good faith exists where an official’s acts did not violate clearly 

established rights of which the official reasonably should have known.”).  “Of course, when we 

consider state tort liability, the ‘clearly established law’ is not limited to federal constitutional 

and statutory rights, but may include Vermont statutes, regulations and common law.”  Sabia v. 

Neville, 165 Vt. 515, 521 (1996).     

Plaintiffs cannot state that Defendant Hatin violated a clearly established right that existed 

in 2018, much less that he was plainly incompetent or knowingly violated the law.  Indeed, 

Plaintiffs’ overarching complaint in this case is that certain DCF employees acted pursuant to 

policies and regulations with which Plaintiffs take issue.  If Defendant Hatin was acting pursuant 

to such regulations, then his actions could not have been objectively unreasonable nor could he 

have been violating a clearly established right.  Thus, Defendant Hatin are entitled to dismissal 

on qualified immunity grounds. 

CONCLUSION 
 

 WHEREFORE, for the reasons stated above, and the reasons for dismissal set forth in the 

other Defendants’ motions to dismiss, Defendant Kevin Hatin respectfully requests that this Court 

dismiss with prejudice all of Plaintiffs’ claims against him and dismiss him as a party to this 

litigation. 

 DATED at Burlington, Vermont this 25th day of April 2022. 

      McNEIL, LEDDY & SHEAHAN, P.C. 
 
 
     By: /s/ Michael J. Leddy      
      Michael J. Leddy, Esq. 
      271 South Union Street 
      Burlington, VT 05401 
      (802) 863-4531 
      mleddy@mcneilvt.com 
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     By: /s/ Joseph A. Farnham      
      Joseph A. Farnham, Esq. 
      271 South Union Street 
      Burlington, VT 05401 
      (802) 863-4531 
      jfarnham@mcneilvt.com 
 

Attorneys for Defendant Kevin Hatin 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE  

DISTRICT OF VERMONT 
 

CATHY WELCH, Administrator of   ) 
The Estate of G.W., R.H., T.W., T.F., ) 
D.H., B.C., AND A.L. by next Friend  ) 
Norma Labounty,     ) 
   Plaintiffs  ) 
      ) 
 v.     ) Civil Action No.: 5:21-CV-00283 
      ) 
KENNETH SCHATZ, KAREN SHEA, ) 
CINDY WOLCOTT, BRENDA GOOLEY, ) 
JAY SIMONS, ARON STEWARD,   ) 
MARCUS BUNNELL, JOHN DUBUC, ) 
WILLIAM CATHCART, BRYAN   ) 
SCRUBB, KEVIN HATIN, NICHOLAS ) 
WEINER, DAVID MARTINEZ, CAROL ) 
RUGGLES, TIM PIETTE, DEVIN   ) 
ROCHON, AMELIA HARRIMAN,  ) 
EDWIN DALE, MERANIE D’AMICO, ) 
ERIN LONGCHAMP, CHRISTOPHER ) 
HAMLIN, and ANTHONY BRICE, all ) 
in their individual capacities,   ) 
   Defendants  ) 
 
 
 
MOTION TO DISMISS OF DEFENDANTS WEINER, MARTINEZ, RUGGLES, PIETTE 

AND ROCHON WITH INCORPORATED MEMORANDUM OF LAW  
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 Defendants Nicholas Weiner, David Martinez, Carol Ruggles, Tim Piette and Devin 

Rochon (“Moving Defendants”) hereby move to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint against them 

pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) and 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon 

which relief can be granted against them.  In support, Moving Defendants submit the following 

incorporated Memorandum of Law.  

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 Plaintiffs’ Complaint should be dismissed in its entirety as to Moving Defendants for five 

principal  reasons:  

(1) Plaintiffs’ conclusory and undifferentiated group pleading against all 
Defendants fails to factually allege any wrongdoing or state plausible claims 
against any of the Moving Defendants by Plaintiffs Welch, D.H., T.W. or A.L. 
under Counts 1-6 and 10-12 or by Plaintiffs R.H. and T.F. under Counts 8-9. 
 
(2) Plaintiffs’ civil rights conspiracy claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1985 (Counts 
1-3, 8) must be dismissed as to all Moving Defendants because (a) Plaintiffs 
allege no factual basis for any conspiracy; (b) nor that any conspiracy was 
motivated by racial animus or other recognized class-based invidious 
discrimination; and (3) such claims are barred by the intra-corporate doctrine of 
conspiracy since all Defendants were employees and officials of the same public 
entity. 
 
(3) Plaintiffs’  claims for Eighth Amendment violations (Counts 4 and 5) fail 
to state a claim because no Plaintiff has alleged that he or she was imprisoned 
after being convicted of a crime. 
 
(4) Plaintiffs R.H., T.F. and B.C.’s substantive Due Process claims for 
excessive force (Counts 5-6) against certain Moving Defendants must be 
dismissed because they fail to allege sufficient facts to infer that any Moving 
Defendant used force against them that was objectively unreasonable or more 
than de minimus. 

 
(5) Plaintiffs fail to state any federal claim against Moving Defendants and 
there is no compelling reason related to judicial economy, convenience, fairness, 
or comity for this Court to retain supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state 
law claims (Counts 10-12). 
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COMPLAINT ALLEGATIONS 

 Plaintiffs are five young adults, one minor, and the estate administrator of a deceased 

young person, G.W., who allege that they were subjected to abuse while residing at the 

Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center in Essex, Vermont (“Woodside”) and the Middlesex 

Adolescent Program in Middlesex, Vermont (“MAP”) between 2016 and 2020.  Compl. at 1-2.1  

All of the Plaintiffs (and Plaintiff Welch’s decedent, G.W.) were minors at the time of their 

residence at Woodside and MAP.  See id. at 1 (referring to Woodside and MAP residents as 

“juveniles” and “children”).   

 However, none of the Plaintiffs (or Plaintiff Welch’s decedent, G.W.) are alleged to have 

resided at these facilities because they had been charged or adjudicated as an adult for a criminal 

act, as distinct from a charge or adjudication for juvenile delinquency.  See id. ¶ 32 (“DCF’s 

Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation center ‘shall be operated by the Department for Children and 

Families as a residential treatment facility that provides in-patient psychiatric, mental health, and 

substance abuse services in a secure setting for adolescents who have been adjudicated or 

charged with delinquency or criminal act’” (quoting former 33 V.S.A. § 5801(a), repealed by 

2021 Vt. Acts and Resolves No. 74, Sec. E.327)).  The Complaint does not allege the racial or 

ethnic background of any of the Plaintiffs or of G.W.  

 Plaintiffs have brought this 12-count civil rights action against twenty-two individuals in 

their personal capacities to recover compensatory and exemplary damages.  Id. at 1-2, 33.  All 

Defendants are alleged to have been, “at all times relevant to this Complaint,” employees and 

officials of the State of Vermont’s Department for Children and Families (“DCF”).  Id. ¶¶ 8-29.     

 
1 Despite generalized suggestions elsewhere in the Complaint,  see, e.g. Compl. ¶¶ 226, only one 
Plaintiff, A.L., factually alleges that he was ever held at MAP, which opened after Woodside’s 
closure in 2020.  See id. ¶ 203.    
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 Each Plaintiff asserts claims against each of the twenty-two Defendants, pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 1985 and § 1983, for conspiracy to violate and violation of the Eighth Amendment’s 

ban on cruel and unusual punishment (Counts 1 & 4; Compl. ¶¶ 221-26, 236-41); the Eighth and 

Fourteenth Amendments’ ban on excessive force (Counts 2 & 5; Compl. ¶¶ 227-29, 242-51); and 

the Fourteenth Amendment’s right to substantive and procedural due process (Counts 3 & 6; 

Compl. ¶¶ 230-35, 252-60).  Only Plaintiffs R.H. and T.F. bring claims, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

1985 and § 1983, for conspiracy to violate and violation of the First Amendment’s right to 

petition government for redress of grievances (Counts 8 & 9; Compl. ¶¶ 267-76), which they 

assert against all Defendants.2  Each Plaintiff also asserts supplemental state law claims against 

each of the twenty-two Defendants for Assault and Battery (Count 10; Compl. ¶¶ 281-84), 

Intentional Infliction of Emotional Harm (Count 11; Compl. ¶¶ 285-92) and “grossly negligent 

and reckless supervision” of Plaintiffs “to protect Plaintiffs from foreseeable harm.” (Count 12; 

Compl. ¶¶ 293-97).  

 Plaintiffs allege that each of the Moving Defendants, Nicholas Weiner, David Martinez, 

Carol Ruggles, Tim Piette and Devin Rochon “was a staff member at the Woodside Juvenile 

Rehabilitation Center, Essex, Vermont at all times relevant to this Complaint.”  Compl. ¶¶ 19-23.  

Plaintiffs do not allege that Defendants Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles, Piette or Rochon had, at any 

relevant time, any DCF-conferred authority or responsibility to supervise, manage, evaluate or 

discipline other personnel working at Woodside or MAP.  Plaintiffs also do not allege that 

Defendants Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles, Piette or Rochon had, at any relevant time, any DCF-

 
2 Count 7 of the Complaint is asserted by Plaintiffs R.H. and D.H. only against Defendants 
Schatz, Dale, D’Amico, Longchamp, Harriman, and Wolcott only for their allegedly deliberate 
indifference to violations of R.H. and D.H.’s Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights when 
they were allegedly placed by DCF at the Natchez Trace Youth Academy in Tennessee.  See 
Compl. ¶¶ 87, 261-66.       
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conferred authority or responsibility to formulate or adopt rules, policies, procedures or general 

practices governing residents or operations at Woodside or MAP.          

 Like all Plaintiffs, Cathy Welch, T.W., D.H. and A.L. broadly assert Counts 1-6 and 10-

12 for various constitutional and state law violations against all twenty-two Defendants, 

including Defendants Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles, Piette and Rochon.  However, the Complaint 

alleges no actual facts indicating that any of these Moving Defendants committed, participated 

in, requested, approved, condoned, observed, ignored or were even aware of any purportedly 

harmful, wrongful or illegal act or omission with respect to T.W., D.H., A.L. or decedent G.W. 

by anyone at any time, such as physical, mental or emotional abuse, use of force, restraint, 

neglect, retaliation, harassment, humiliation, exploitation, punishment, or imposition upon them 

of isolated or secluded confinement, e.g., placement in Woodside’s “North Unit.”  See Compl. ¶¶ 

119-31 (no factual allegations regarding D.H. that name any Moving Defendant); id. ¶¶ 150-58 

(no factual allegations regarding T.W. that name any Moving Defendant); id. ¶¶ 159-70 (no 

factual allegations regarding decedent G.W. that name any Moving Defendant); id. ¶¶ 195-220 

(no factual allegations regarding A.L. that name any Moving Defendant).3     

 The remaining Plaintiffs – R.H., T.F. and B.C. – also assert Counts 1-6 and 8-12 against 

all Defendants generally, including Defendants Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles, Piette and Rochon.  

However, each of these three Plaintiffs allege that only some, but not all of these Moving 

Defendants participated in physically restraining them at Woodside during certain specific 

 
3 The Complaint does allege that a video reflects unnamed “Woodside staff rushing into [G.W.’s] 
cell and pushing her against the wall with a large riot shield.” Compl. ¶ 168. The Complaint also 
alleges that unnamed “Woodside staff members” in 2018 “repeatedly subjected [A.L.] to painful 
restraints” and that unnamed “staff requests to send A.L. into solitary confinement in 
Woodside’s North Unit” were allegedly approved by co-Defendant Steward. Id. ¶¶ 197, 200.  
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instances.4  For example, the Complaint alleges that R.H. was “physically restrained about ten 

times” between March 2018 and December 2018 by Woodside staff members, including Moving 

Defendants Weiner Martinez, and Rochon.  Id. ¶ 143.  However, the Complaint alleges no harm, 

wrongful act or omission against R.H. by the other Moving Defendants -- Ruggles and Piette.   

 Likewise, T.F. alleges that on June 27, 2018 she was “physically restrained” by Moving 

Defendant Piette and co-Defendant Bunnell “and dragged across the floor by her feet to her cell.”  

Id. ¶ 175.  Yet T.F. alleges no harm, wrongful act or omission against her at any time by the 

other Moving Defendants -- Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles and Rochon.  

 Finally, the Complaint alleges that, on August 25, 2018, Moving Defendant Ruggles 

assisted “Defendant Hatin and two other male Woodside staff members” in pinning B.C. to the 

floor of her room in Woodside’s North Unit and “forcibly remov[ing] her clothing.”  Id. ¶ 186.  

However, B.C. alleges no harm, wrongful act or omission against her by Moving Defendants 

Weiner, Martinez, Piette and Rochon.  

 In charging that certain specifically named Moving Defendants participated in physically 

restraining them, neither R.H., T.F. nor B.C. allege the facts or circumstances leading up to each 

restraint, such as actions or behaviors by R.H., T.F. or B.C. that may have prompted Woodside 

staff members to restrain them.  Second, the Complaint alleges few facts about the degree, 

amount or specific type of physical force that was applied to R.H., T.F. and B.C. by each of the 

 
4 In contrast to R.H., T.F. and B.C.’s factual allegations of specific physical restraint episodes 
involving only certain named Moving Defendants, Counts 1-6 and 10 of the Complaint conclude 
or suggest that all “Defendants conspired . . to physically restrain [all Plaintiffs] in violation of 
Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights,” Compl. ¶¶ 226, 229, 235, that all “Defendants physically 
restrained [all Plaintiffs] in violation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights,” id. ¶¶ 241, 251, 260, 
that all “Defendants used such force as was objectively unreasonable, excessive, and conscience 
shocking,” id. ¶ 247, and that all “Defendants repeatedly . . . physically assaulted” all Plaintiffs.  
Id. ¶ 282. 
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Moving Defendants during these restraint episodes.5  Third, the Complaint generally does not 

allege facts concerning the nature, severity or permanence of any physical pain or injury that 

R.H., T.F. or B.C. may have experienced as a result of these restraint episodes.6  Fourth, R.H., 

T.F. and B.C. do not allege any facts about the intent, motive or state of mind of any of the 

Moving Defendants in supposedly participating in these restraint episodes.           

 Beyond the episodes of physical restraint alleged by R.H., T.F. and B.C. involving some, 

but not all Moving Defendants, these Plaintiffs do not allege any facts indicating that any of the 

Moving Defendants -- Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles, Piette or Rochon – engaged in any other kind 

of purported harm, wrongful act or omission against them.  In particular, the Complaint does not 

allege facts indicating that any named Moving Defendants ever ordered, requested, or otherwise 

participated in the placement of any of the Plaintiffs in isolated or secluded confinement, such as 

in Woodside’s “North Unit.”  The Complaint also does not allege facts indicating that any named 

Moving Defendant received or was aware of any complaints or grievances by any of the 

Plaintiffs about their treatment at Woodside or MAP, nor does the Complaint allege facts 

suggesting any named Moving Defendants participated in efforts to retaliate against any Plaintiff 

for such grievances or complaints.  Finally, the Complaint does not allege facts indicating that 

 
5 It is generally alleged that “[u]nder the direction of Defendant Simons, Woodside staff 
members, including [Moving] Defendants Weiner, Martinez, and Rochon, would apply rotational 
pressure to a juvenile’s joints, including wrists, shoulders, and knees, and hyperextend shoulder 
and rotator cuff muscle groups.”  Compl. ¶ 43.  However, the Complaint does not allege whether 
any of the Plaintiffs in this action, as distinct from other non-party juvenile residents of 
Woodside or MAP, were restrained in this manner.    
 
6 T.F. does allege that, during the June 27, 2018 restraint-and-dragging episode in which Moving 
Defendant Piette allegedly participated, “T.F. suffered friction burns on her body.”  Compl. ¶ 
176.  T.F. does not describe the location, severity or duration of these “friction burns.”  
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any named Moving Defendants reached an agreement or understanding with each other or with 

any other co-Defendant to harm or commit some other wrongful act against any Plaintiff.      

ARGUMENT 

I. Rule 8(a) and Rule 12(b)(6) Standards 

To satisfy Rule 8(a)(2)’s requirement that a complaint contain “a short and plain 

statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief,” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2), and 

to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, a complaint must allege “enough facts to state a 

claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 

(2007). “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the 

court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” 

Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).  This “demands more than an unadorned, the- 

defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me accusation.”  Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678.  

 In evaluating a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the district court must “accept as true all factual 

allegations and draw from them all reasonable inferences,” but need not “credit conclusory 

allegations or legal conclusions couched as factual allegations.” Hernandez v. United States, 939 

F.3d 191, 198 (2d Cir. 2019).  “A pleading that offers ‘labels and conclusions’ or ‘a formulaic 

recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do.’ Nor does a complaint suffice if it 

tenders ‘naked assertion[s]’ devoid of ‘further factual enhancement.’” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 

(quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555, 557).  Moreover, “where the well-pleaded facts do not 

permit the court to infer more than the mere possibility of misconduct, the complaint has alleged 

-- but it has not ‘show[n]’—‘that the pleader is entitled to relief.’”  Id. at 679 (quoting Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 8(a)(2)). 
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 Thus, a complaint with allegations that “are so vague as to fail to give the defendants 

adequate notice of the claims against them” is subject to dismissal.  Sheehy v. Brown, 335 F. 

App’x 102, 104 (2d Cir. 2009).  Dismissal is also appropriate when “it is clear from the face of 

the complaint, and matters of which the court may take judicial notice, that the plaintiff’s claims 

are barred as a matter of law,” Conopco, Inc. v. Roll Int’l, 231 F.3d 82, 86 (2d Cir. 2000), 

because “the allegations in [the] complaint however true, could not raise a claim of entitlement to 

relief.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 558. 

II. The Complaint’s Reliance on Conclusory Group Pleading Fails to State Claims 
Against Any of the Moving Defendants by Plaintiffs Welch, D.H., T.W. and A.L. 
Under Counts 1-6, 10-12 or by Plaintiffs R.H. and T.F. Under Counts 8-9  

All federal and state law causes of action (Counts 1-6 and 10-12)  asserted by Plaintiffs 

D.H., T.W., A.L. and Cathy Welch on behalf of the Estate of G.W. against the Moving 

Defendants -- Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles, Piette and Rochon -- must be dismissed for the 

fundamental reason that the Complaint makes no specific factual allegations of harm or 

wrongdoing committed by any of these Defendants against these particular Plaintiffs to support 

its undifferentiated legal conclusions against all Defendants.  Likewise, Plaintiffs R.H. and T.F.’s 

Counts 8 and 9 must be dismissed as to the Moving Defendants because the Complaint fails to 

allege any facts that would indicate Moving Defendants Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles, Piette or 

Rochon’s violation or participation in any conspiracy to violate these Plaintiffs’ First 

Amendment rights to petition government for redress of grievances.       

“Where a complaint names multiple defendants, that complaint must provide a plausible 

factual basis to distinguish the conduct of each of the defendants.”  Ochre LLC v. Rockwell 

Architecture Plan. & Design, P.C., No. 12 CIV. 2837 KBF, 2012 WL 6082387, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. 

Dec. 3, 2012), aff’d, 530 F. App’x 19 (2d Cir. 2013).  Likewise, when multiple plaintiffs assert 

the same legal claims against multiple defendants, the complaint must “state with particularity 
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what each Defendant did to each Plaintiff.” Peter v. Wojcicki, No. 1:22-CV-00051-KWR-LF, 

2022 WL 228204, at *1 (D.N.M. Jan. 26, 2022). 

Rule 8(a)(2) “requires, at a minimum, that a complaint give each defendant fair notice of 

what the plaintiff’s claim is and the ground upon which it rests.” Atuahene v. City of Hartford, 10 

F. App’x 33, 34 (2d Cir. 2001).  A complaint that (1) “fail[s] to differentiate among the 

defendants, alleging instead violations by ‘the defendants;’” (2) “fail[s] to identify which 

defendants were alleged to be responsible for which alleged violations;” or (3) “lump[s] all the 

defendants together in each claim and provid[es] no factual basis to distinguish [the defendants’] 

conduct” fails this Rule 8(a)(2) standard and is subject to dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6).  Id. 

Such “nonspecific allegations ‘that rely on group pleading and fail to differentiate as to 

which defendant was involved in the alleged unlawful conduct are insufficient to state a claim.’”  

Wiley v. Baker, No. 2:20-CV-154-WKS-JMC, 2021 WL 2652869, at *5 n. 4 (D. Vt. Jan. 28, 

2021) (quoting Leneau v. Ponte, No. 1:16-CV-776-GHW, 2018 WL 566456, at *15 (S.D.N.Y. 

Jan 25, 2018)).  Therefore, each “plaintiff must provide facts sufficient to allow each named 

defendant to have a fair understanding of what the plaintiff is complaining about and to know 

whether there is a legal basis for recovery.”  Hauff v. State Univ. of New York, 425 F. Supp. 3d 

116, 126-27 (E.D.N.Y. 2019). 

In the context of a federal civil rights action brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, group 

pleading is inconsistent with the requirement “a plaintiff must plead that each Government-

official defendant, through the official’s own individual actions, has violated the Constitution.”  

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 676.  “Because the personal involvement of a defendant is a prerequisite to an 

award of damages under § 1983, a plaintiff cannot rely on a group pleading against all 
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defendants without making specific individual factual allegations.”  Spring v. Allegany-

Limestone Cent. Sch. Dist., 138 F. Supp. 3d 282, 293 (W.D.N.Y. 2015).7  

In this case, Counts 1-6 and 10-12 of the Complaint impermissibly lump the twenty-two 

Defendants together and misleadingly assert that all “Defendants” have committed various 

constitutional and state law torts against all “Plaintiffs.”  See Compl. ¶¶ 226, 229, 235, 241, 251, 

260, 282, 287-88, 291, 296.  However, the factual allegations of the Complaint clearly do not 

support these “labels and conclusions” or Plaintiffs’ “formulaic recitation of the elements of a 

cause of action” as to all Plaintiffs and all Defendants.  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555, 557;  see also 

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 679 (although “legal conclusions can provide the framework of a complaint, 

they must be supported by factual allegations.”); Stewart v. Loring Estates LLC, No. 18-CV-

2283 (MKB), 2018 WL 2390145, at *3 (E.D.N.Y. May 18, 2018) (“Plaintiffs must set forth 

sufficient factual content to allow the district court ‘to draw the reasonable inference’ that each 

defendant named in the amended complaint is liable for the misconduct or harm caused to each 

Plaintiff named in the amended complaint and that such conduct is in violation of a federal 

constitutional or statutory right” (internal citation omitted; emphasis added)).    

The speciousness of the Complaint’s group pleading approach in Counts 1-6 and 10-12 is 

illustrated most clearly by the absence of any factual allegations against the Moving Defendants 

with respect to their conduct toward T.W., D.H., A.L. or decedent G.W.  The Complaint simply 

alleges no facts at all indicating that any of the Moving Defendants -- Weiner, Martinez, 

Ruggles, Piette or Rochon -- committed, participated in, requested, approved, condoned, 

 
7 Gonzalez v. Yepes, No. 3:19-CV-00267 (CSH), 2019 WL 2603533, at *7 (D. Conn. June 25, 
2019) (“As a corollary of the personal involvement requirement, complaints that rely on ‘group 
pleading’ and ‘fail to differentiate as to which defendant was involved in the alleged unlawful 
conduct are insufficient to state a claim’” (citation omitted)). 
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observed, ignored or were even aware of any purportedly harmful, wrongful or illegal act or 

omission with respect to T.W., D.H., A.L. or decedent G.W.  See Compl. ¶¶ 119-31, 150-58, 

159-70, 195-220.  

Accordingly, Plaintiffs T.W., D.H., A.L. and Welch’s Counts 1-6 and 10-12 have no 

factual basis with respect to any of the Moving Defendants and must therefore be dismissed as to 

these Defendants.  See Ingris v. Borough of Caldwell, No. 14–855 (ES), 2015 WL 3613499, at 

*5 (D.N.J. June 9, 2015) (holding that plaintiff “engaged in impermissibly vague group 

pleading” by “mak[ing] collective references to twenty-three different defendants” and “when 

pleading each of his proposed causes of action” had “refer[red] to ‘all defendants named in this 

count’, without describing what any particular defendant actually did, or how those alleged 

activities might be actionable under the law”).  For the same reason, Plaintiffs R.H. and T.F.’s 

Counts 8 and 9 for conspiracy to violate and violation of their First Amendment right to petition 

government for redress of grievances, broadly asserted against all twenty-two Defendants, see 

Compl. ¶¶ 267-76, must also be dismissed as to the Moving Defendants.  

Counts 8 and 9 charge, in an indiscriminate group pleading fashion, that all “Defendants 

retaliated” and “conspired to retaliate against R.H. and T.F. after they registered complaints” 

about their treatment at Woodside.  Id.  ¶¶ 271, 276.8  Although R.H. does allege that Moving 

 
8 To survive a motion to dismiss their First Amendment retaliation claim, Count 9, Plaintiffs 
R.H. and T.F. must make “the following non-conclusory allegations: ‘(1) that the speech or 
conduct at issue was protected, (2) that the defendant took adverse action against the plaintiff, 
and (3) that there was a causal connection between the protected speech and the adverse action.’” 
Rheaume v. Pallito, No. 2:15-CV-135-WKS-JMC, 2016 WL 3277318, at *9 (D. Vt. Apr. 20, 
2016), report and recommendation adopted, No. 2:15 CV 135, 2016 WL 3344223 (D. Vt. June 
14, 2016) (quoting Dawes v. Walker, 239 F.3d 489, 492 (2d Cir. 2001)).  
  Here, R.H. and T.F. do not allege any actual facts indicating that any of the Moving Defendants 
took “adverse action” against them because of their alleged complaints concerning their 
treatment at Woodside. 
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Defendants Weiner Martinez, and Rochon physically restrained him, id. ¶ 143, and T.F. alleges 

that Moving Defendant Piette physically restrained her, id. ¶ 175, neither R.H. nor T.F. allege 

that these or any other Moving Defendants engaged in any other kind of purported harm, 

wrongful act or omission against them.  Specifically, the Complaint does not allege facts 

indicating that any named Moving Defendant received or was aware of any complaints or 

grievances by any of the Plaintiffs about their treatment at Woodside, nor does the Complaint 

allege facts suggesting any named Moving Defendants participated in efforts to retaliate against 

any Plaintiff for such grievances or complaints.  Thus, Counts 8 and 9 must be dismissed as to 

Moving Defendants Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles, Piette and Rochon pursuant to Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) and 12(b)(6).        

Plaintiffs may respond that pleading the Moving Defendants’ Section 1983 liability for 

constitutional violations does not require them to allege that the Moving Defendants directly 

participated in any of the alleged violations, such as the unreasonable use of physical restraints or 

imposition of solitary confinement, only that the Moving Defendants were deliberately 

indifferent to this conduct by other Woodside staff or officials and failed to stop these violations 

by interceding on behalf of the Plaintiffs.  See Compl. ¶¶ 240, 256 (concluding that “Defendants 

owed Plaintiffs a duty of care to ensure their custody was reasonably safe and to detect and 

correct problems that could cause injury to Plaintiffs”); id. ¶ 248 (asserting that “[n]one of the 

Defendants took reasonable steps to protect Plaintiffs from the objectively unreasonable and 

conscience shocking excessive force of other Defendants despite being in a position to do so.”).    

  However, such an argument would be misplaced as to the Moving Defendants. First, in 

assessing whether the Section 1983 ‘personal involvement’ requirement is met with respect to 

the Moving Defendants, who were all Woodside staff members, Compl. ¶¶ 19-23, and “not 
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supervisory officials,” the Court should “consider only whether they participated directly in the 

violation,” not whether they “failed to remedy the wrong” after the fact or “exhibited deliberate 

indifference to the rights of” Plaintiffs “by failing to act on information indicating that 

unconstitutional acts were occurring,” which are all ways for the Court to analyze Section 1983 

“personal involvement . . . in the context of supervisory defendants” only, not non-supervisory 

Woodside staff members.  Brandon v. Kinter, 938 F.3d 21, 36-37 (2d Cir. 2019).  

Second, although  “[a] law enforcement officer has an affirmative duty to intercede on 

the behalf of a citizen whose constitutional rights are being violated in his presence by other 

officers,” O’Neill v. Krzeminski, 839 F.2d 9, 11 (2d Cir. 1988), “[l]iability will attach only when 

(1) the officer had a realistic opportunity to intervene and prevent the harm; (2) a reasonable 

person in the officer’s position would know that the victim’s constitutional rights were being 

violated; and (3) the officer does not take reasonable steps to intervene.”  Jean-Laurent v. 

Wilkerson, 438 F. Supp. 2d 318, 327 (S.D.N.Y. 2006), aff’d, 461 F. App’x 18 (2d Cir. 2012).9  

Here, even if the duty of law enforcement officers to intervene were applicable to non-law 

enforcement DCF staff members like the Moving Defendants, the Complaint does not allege 

facts from which it could be inferred that a Moving Defendant had a “realistic opportunity to 

intervene and prevent” harm to Plaintiffs by others, or that a Moving Defendant knew or should 

have known that a Plaintiff’s constitutional rights were being violated by others.  Plaintiffs’ 

generalized and factually devoid assertions to the contrary, see Compl. ¶¶ 240, 248, 256, are 

 
9 “[W]hen considering the reasonableness of any opportunity to intervene, one must consider 
both (a) the duration of the constitutional violation, and (b) the defendant’s presence and 
proximity during the use of the constitutional violation.”  Thomas v. City of Troy, 293 F. Supp. 
3d 282, 296 (N.D.N.Y. 2018).  However, “[a]n officer’s mere presence at the scene is not enough 
to establish liability for a failure to intervene.” Conroy v. Caron, 275 F. Supp. 3d 328, 354 (D. 
Conn. 2017). 
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merely “legal conclusions couched as factual allegations,” Hernandez, 939 F.3d at 198, that are 

insufficient to avoid dismissal.                

III. Plaintiffs’ Section 1985 Civil Rights Conspiracy Claims (Counts 1-3, 8) Are 
Deficiently Pleaded and Legally Untenable  

In Counts 1-3 of the Complaint, Plaintiffs assert that all twenty-two “Defendants 

conspired to unlawfully isolate [all] Plaintiffs in seclusion cells in Woodside North Unit [and] to 

physically restrain them in violation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights [and] . . . in violation of 

42 U.S.C. § 1985.” Compl. ¶¶ 226, 229, 235.  In Count 8, Plaintiffs R.H. and T.F. claim that all 

“Defendants conspired to retaliate against R.H. and T.F. after they registered complaints” about 

their treatment at Woodside “in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985.”  Compl. ¶ 271.  

 However, Plaintiffs have failed to state civil rights conspiracy claims under 42 U.S.C. § 

1985 because (1) the Complaint does not allege any specific factual basis for a conspiracy 

between any of the Defendants to violate the civil rights of any Plaintiffs; (2) the Complaint does 

not allege that any purported conspiracy was motivated by racial animus or other recognized 

class-based, invidious discrimination against Plaintiffs; and (3) such claims are barred by the 

intra-corporate doctrine of conspiracy since all the Defendants, at times relevant to the 

Complaint, were employees and officials of the same public entity, DCF, and are therefore 

deemed legally incapable of conspiring with each other.      

“Section 1985 prohibits conspiracies to deprive individuals of civil rights.” Barron v. 

Pallito, No. 1:09-CV-209, 2011 WL 2532589, at *7 (D. Vt. Apr. 27, 2011).  “A conspiracy claim 

under Section 1985(3)10 requires a plaintiff to allege: 1) a conspiracy; 2) for the purpose of 

 
10 Although the Complaint does not make it clear whether Plaintiffs’ Section 1985 claims assert 
violations of “§ 1985(1), § 1985(2) or § 1985(3), § 1985(3) is the only subsection that could 
possibly apply to this case.” Johnson ex rel. Johnson v. Columbia Univ., No. 99 CIV. 3415 
(GBD), 2003 WL 22743675, at *15 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 19, 2003). 
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depriving, either directly or indirectly, any person or class of persons of the equal protection of 

the laws, or of equal privileges and immunities under the laws; and 3) an act in furtherance of the 

conspiracy; 4) whereby a person is either injured in his person or property or deprived of any 

right or privilege of a citizen of the United States.”  Segar v. Barnett, No. 2:20-CV-126, 2020 

WL 6565131, at *4 (D. Vt. Nov. 9, 2020) (quoting Dolan v. Connelly, 794 F.3d 290, 296 (2d Cir. 

2015)). 

 “The mere assertion of a conspiracy is insufficient,”  Barron, 2011 WL 2532589, at *7, 

and “[a] complaint alleging a conspiracy to violate civil rights is held to heightened pleading 

standards.”  Johnson, 2003 WL 22743675, at *14.  “A complaint containing only conclusory, 

vague, or general allegations of conspiracy to deprive a person of constitutional rights cannot 

withstand a motion to dismiss.” Sommer v. Dixon,709 F.2d 173, 175 (2d Cir. 1983).11 

 Therefore, “[i]n order to maintain an action under Section 1985, a plaintiff must provide 

some factual basis supporting a meeting of the minds, such that defendants entered into an 

agreement, express or tacit, to achieve the unlawful end,”  Bain v. Hofmann, No. 106-CV-222, 

2010 WL 3927329, at *9 (D. Vt. Aug. 26, 2010) (quoting Webb, 340 F.3d at 110–11), “where 

one individual acts in furtherance of the objective conspiracy, and each member has knowledge 

of the nature and scope of the agreement.” Dove v. Fordham Univ., 56 F. Supp. 2d 330, 337 

(S.D.N.Y.1999).  

 In this case, the Complaint merely asserts that all Defendants “conspired” to violate the 

constitutional rights of all Plaintiffs, Compl. ¶¶ 226, 229, 235, but alleges no actual facts from 

 
11 See, e.g., Murphy v. Bd. of Educ. of Rochester City Sch. Dist., 273 F. Supp. 2d 292, 324 
(W.D.N.Y. 2003), aff’d, 106 F. App’x 746 (2d Cir. 2004) (finding plaintiff’s “conclusory 
assertion” that defendants were “working ‘in concert’” to be insufficient to state a Section 1985 
conspiracy claim). 
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which the Court could infer a specific meeting of the minds between particular Defendants to 

violate the rights of any Plaintiff.  See McCain v. United States, No. 2:14-CV-92, 2015 WL 

1221257, at *7 (D. Vt. Mar. 17, 2015) (dismissing Section 1985 claims because complaint “does 

not allege any facts to suggest that” defendants “entered into a meeting of the minds . . . to 

achieve an unlawful end”).12  Rather, it appears that Plaintiffs have only “alleged that defendants 

violated [their] constitutional rights, and ha[ve] then simply tacked on a conclusory allegation 

that those violations were committed pursuant to a conspiracy . . . [S]uch ‘generic and 

conclusory terms’ are insufficient to make out a § 1985 claim.”  Doe v. Selsky, 973 F. Supp. 2d 

300, 305 (W.D.N.Y. 2013) (citation omitted).    

 For instance, the Complaint does not “make an effort to provide some details of time and 

place and the alleged effects of the conspiracy ... [including] facts to demonstrate that the 

defendants entered into an agreement, express or tacit, to achieve the unlawful end.”  Warren v. 

Fischl, 33 F. Supp. 2d 171, 177 (E.D.N.Y. 1999).  In addition, the Complaint is devoid of any 

factual allegations setting forth “the roles of each of the defendants who allegedly participated in 

[the] conspiracy.” Laverpool v. New York City Transit Auth., 760 F. Supp. 1046, 1056 

(E.D.N.Y.1991).  Likewise, Plaintiffs fail to “allege with at least some particularity overt acts 

which defendants engaged in which were reasonably related to the promotion of the claimed 

conspiracy.”  Johnson, 2003 WL 22743675, at *14.  Clearly, Plaintiffs’ fact-free accusations of a 

civil rights conspiracy fail to meet the “heightened pleading standards” for such claims, id. at 

*15, and must be dismissed. 

 
12 See also Gadreault v. Grearson, No. 2:11-CV-63, 2011 WL 4915746, at *6 (D. Vt. Oct. 14, 
2011) (“The conspiracy claims presented here are highly conclusory. Aside from the bare 
allegation that a judge and opposing counsel conspired together, there are no facts to support a 
claim that these Defendants had an agreement to act in concert.”). 
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 For a Section 1985(3) claim to survive a motion to dismiss, “[t]he conspiracy must also 

be motivated by some racial or perhaps otherwise class-based, invidious discriminatory animus.” 

Dolan, 794 F.3d at 296.  “[S]ection 1985 -- unlike section 1983—is a tool only available to 

address race-based discrimination.  Unlike section 1983 which functions to provide a federal 

remedy for a wide variety of constitutional torts, section 1985(3) remains close to the historical 

purpose of its enactment during the era of Reconstruction as a defense against racist conspiracies 

by groups such as the Ku Klux Klan.”  Hovey v. Vermont, No. 5:16-CV-266, 2017 WL 2167123, 

at *6 (D. Vt. May 16, 2017) (internal citations omitted). 

 Here, Plaintiffs’ Section 1985 claims must be dismissed because the Complaint does not 

allege any facts suggesting that the Defendants’ purported conspiracy to violate Plaintiffs’ civil 

rights was motivated by racial animus.  See Segar, 2020 WL 6565131, at *4 (“Because Plaintiff's 

proposed Complaint lacks allegations of racially motivated discrimination, he fails to state a 

claim under § 1985(3)”).  Indeed, the Complaint does not even allege the racial or ethnic 

background of any of the Plaintiffs.  

 To the extent that Plaintiffs would contend their Section 1985(3) conspiracy claims 

survive dismissal because the Defendants engaged in class-based, invidious discrimination 

against them, not because of their race, but on account of their age or juvenile status at the time 

of Defendants’ asserted civil rights violations, such a theory fails.  See Jenkins v. Miller, 983 F. 

Supp. 2d 423, 458 (D. Vt. 2013) (recognizing that some “[l]ower federal courts . . . have 

recognized potential § 1985(3) discrimination claims on the basis of gender, religion, national 

origin, ethnicity, mental retardation, disability and political affiliation.”).   

“[T]o satisfy the class-based animus requirement” of Section 1985(3)” the putative class 

generally must possess certain “inherited or immutable characteristics.” Dolan, 794 F.3d at 296, 
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that render its members “a discrete and insular minority . . . .”  Haverstick Enters., Inc. v. 

Financial Fed. Credit, Inc., 32 F.3d 989, 994 (6th Cir.1994).  Thus, “incarcerated felons are not 

a class protected by 42 U.S.C. § 1985.”  Cusamano v. Sobek, 604 F. Supp. 2d 416, 433 n.26 

(N.D.N.Y. 2009).  Here, the Plaintiffs’ one-time status as minors who were held at Woodside for 

delinquency offenses is not an inherited or immutable characteristic the rendered them a discrete 

and insular minority.     

Other courts have noted that Section 1985 “should extend beyond its racial boundaries 

only when a class has been afforded suspect or quasi-suspect classification or when Congress has 

provided the class special protection.”  Martin v. New York State Dep’t of Corr. Servs., 115 

F.Supp.2d 307, 316 (N.D.N.Y. 2000).  Under this standard, Plaintiffs do not satisfy the Section 

1985 class-based discriminatory animus requirement as a putative class of minors held at 

Woodside since “juvenile delinquency is not a suspect classification for purposes of equal 

protection analysis,”  Felton v. Fayette Sch. Dist., 875 F.2d 191, 193 (8th Cir. 1989) and “[a]ge 

has never been held to be a suspect classification” either.  Garcia v. Hoke, No. CV-88-2635, 

1990 WL 137400, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. July 3, 1990), aff’d, 932 F.2d 956 (2d Cir. 1991). 

  A final reason to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Section 1985 conspiracy claims (Counts 1-3, 8) for 

failure to state a claim is “the doctrine of intra-corporate (or intra-enterprise) conspiracy” which  

holds that “officers, agents and employees of a single corporate or municipal entity, each acting 

within the scope of his or her employment, are legally incapable of conspiring together.”  

Rudavsky v. City of S. Burlington, No. 2:18-CV-25, 2018 WL 4639096, at *5 (D. Vt. Sept. 27, 

2018).   

“The doctrine, which began in cases involving corporations, has been extended to 

allegations of a conspiracy involving employees of a public entity.”  Shakur v. Graham, No. 
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9:14-CV-00427 MAD, 2015 WL 1968492, at *17 (N.D.N.Y. May 1, 2015).  In particular, 

district courts in this Circuit have regularly applied the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine to bar 

conspiracy claims against employees and officials of state governments.  See Cusamano, 604 F. 

Supp. 2d at 469-70 (noting that since district court had “found seven district court cases from 

within this Circuit in which the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine has been applied with regard 

to conspiracy claims against the State [of New York], and only one district court case in which it 

has not been so applied, it appears to me that the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine does apply to 

cases in which the entity is the State.”).13  The Second Circuit has also joined several other 

Circuits in expressly “extending that ‘intracorporate conspiracy doctrine’ to the context 

of conspiracies to interfere with civil rights in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985.”  Federal Ins. Co. 

v. United States, 882 F.3d 348, 368 n.14 (2d Cir. 2018).14   

“There is an exception to the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine that applies ‘to 

individuals within a single entity when they are pursuing personal interests wholly separate and 

apart from the entity.’”  Rudavsky, 2018 WL 4639096, at *6 (quoting Quinn v. Nassau Cnty. 

 
13 See also Towns v. Stannard, No. 116CV01545BKSDJS, 2017 WL 11476416, at *4 (N.D.N.Y. 
Dec. 20, 2017) (“[T]he intracorporate conspiracy doctrine is plainly applicable to Defendants as 
it is undisputed that they were all employees of the New York State Police at the time of the 
incident.”); Liner v. Fischer, No. 11 CIV. 6711 PAC JLC, 2013 WL 4405539, at *6 n.12 
(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 7, 2013) (“Because all four of the defendants worked for the same corporate 
entity, DOCCS [New York State Department of Correctional Services], and were acting within 
the scope of their employment with regard to the alleged conduct, the conspiracy claims are 
further subject to dismissal under the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine.”). 
 
14 The Supreme Court has noted that “[t]here is a division in the courts of appeals . . . respecting 
the validity or correctness of the intracorporate-conspiracy doctrine with reference to § 
1985 conspiracies” and has expressly declined to “approv[e] or disapprov[e] the intracorporate-
conspiracy doctrine's application in the context of an alleged § 1985(3) violation,” but observed 
that because “courts are divided as to whether or not a § 1985(3) conspiracy can arise from 
official discussions between or among agents of the same entity [this fact] demonstrates that the 
law on the point is not well established” for purposes of the qualified immunity doctrine. Ziglar 
v. Abbasi, 137 S. Ct. 1843, 1868 (2017). 
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Police Dep’t, 53 F. Supp. 2d 347, 360 (E.D.N.Y. 1999)).  “This ‘personal stake’ exception 

applies ‘where law enforcement allegedly exercises official duties in unconstitutional ways in 

order to secure personal benefit.’”  Id. (quoting Alvarez v. City of New York, No. 11 Civ. 

5464(LAK), 2012 WL 6212612, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 12, 2012)).  However, “in order to allege 

facts plausibly suggesting that individuals were pursuing personal interests wholly separate and 

apart from the entity, more is required of a plaintiff than simply alleging that the defendants were 

motivated by personal bias against the plaintiff.” Cusamano, 604 F. Supp. 2d at 469-70. 

 In this case, Plaintiffs allege that all Defendants were “at all times relevant to this 

Complaint,” employees and officials of the same public entity – the State of Vermont’s 

Department for Children and Families.  Compl. ¶¶ 8-29.  There is also “no allegation that any” 

Defendant “engaged in harmful or unconstitutional conduct with the goal of securing a personal 

benefit.”  Rudavsky, 2018 WL 4639096, at *6.  Accordingly, the Second Circuit’s adoption of 

the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine bars Plaintiffs’ Section 1985 civil rights conspiracy 

claims and Counts 1-3 and 8 must be dismissed as a matter of law.      

IV.  Plaintiffs’ 8th Amendment Claims (Counts 4-5) Do Not Apply to This Action 

 “The Eighth Amendment applies ‘only after the State has complied with the 

constitutional guarantees traditionally associated with criminal prosecutions.... [T]he State does 

not acquire the power to punish with which the Eighth Amendment is concerned until after it has 

secured a formal adjudication of guilt in accordance with due process of law.’”  DeShaney v. 

Winnebago Cnty. Dep’t of Social Servs., 489 U.S. 189, 199 n. 6 (1989) (citation omitted).  

Therefore, when plaintiffs are “held in non-criminal custody as juveniles” courts should “analyze 

their excessive force claims under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment,” rather 

than the Eighth Amendment.  G.B. ex rel. T.B. v. Carrion, No. 09CIV10582PACFM, 2012 WL 

13071817, at *16 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 19, 2012), aff’d, 486 F. App’x 886 (2d Cir. 2012);  see also 
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Jackson v. Johnson, 118 F. Supp. 2d 278, 287 (N.D.N.Y. 2000), aff’d in part, dismissed in 

part, 13 F. App’x 51 (2d Cir. 2001) (concluding that plaintiff held in New York Department for 

Youth juvenile facility “was adjudicated a juvenile delinquent in a noncriminal proceeding and 

placed in NYS custody pursuant to a Family Court order. Pursuant to New York State law, 

[plaintiff] was not convicted of a crime and was not incarcerated at the time of the events 

complained of. Therefore, the Eighth Amendment ban on cruel and unusual punishment is 

inapplicable in this case.”).15 

 In this case, none of the Plaintiffs have alleged that they were held at Woodside or MAP 

because they had been convicted of a crime.  To the extent that the Plaintiffs were held at 

Woodside or MAP because they had “been adjudicated or charged with delinquency” rather than 

a “criminal act,” Compl. ¶ 32 (quoting repealed 33 V.S.A. § 5801(a)), then the Eight 

Amendment’s ban on cruel and unusual punishment would not apply in this action and 

Complaint Counts 4 and 5 (to the extent that the latter relies upon the Eight Amendment) must 

be dismissed for failure to state a claim.16  

 

 
15 Cf. C.P.X. through S.P.X. v. Garcia, 450 F. Supp. 3d 854, 903 n.19 (S.D. Iowa 2020) (“In 
Iowa, adjudications or dispositions in juvenile delinquency proceedings are not deemed criminal 
convictions and such adjudications are viewed as ‘special proceedings that serve as an alternative 
to the criminal prosecution of a child.’ Thus, the Eighth Amendment is not typically applicable 
to claims of students at [youth reform school] concerning the conditions of their confinement”) 
(citations omitted). 
 
16 Under Vermont law, “an order of the court in a delinquency proceeding cannot ‘be deemed a 
conviction of crime,’ and the purpose of the Juvenile Proceedings Act is to ‘remove from 
children committing delinquent acts the taint of criminality and the consequences of criminal 
behavior and to provide supervision, care, and rehabilitation.’” In re D.C., 2016 VT 72, ¶ 21, 202 
Vt. 340, 354, 149 A.3d 466, 474 (quoting, respectively, 33 V.S.A. §§ 5202(a)(1)(A), 5101(a)(2)). 
 

Case 5:21-cv-00283-gwc   Document 58   Filed 04/25/22   Page 22 of 27



22 
 

V. Plaintiffs R.H., T.F. and B.C. Have Insufficiently Pleaded their 14th Amendment 
Substantive Due Process Claims (Counts 5-6) Against Moving Defendants for Use of 
Excessive Force  

 Plaintiffs R.H., T.F. and B.C. allege that certain Moving Defendants “physically 

restrained” them while they were Woodside residents, see Compl. ¶¶ 143, 175, 186, which 

Plaintiffs assert, in Counts 5 and 6, constitutes “excessive force” prohibited by the Fourteenth 

Amendment’s guarantee of substantive due process.  See id. ¶¶ 251, 260.17  “For excessive force 

claims brought under the Fourteenth Amendment, the Supreme Court has listed out six non-

exclusive factors that ‘may bear on the reasonableness or unreasonableness of the force used: the 

relationship between the need for the use of force and the amount of force used; the extent of the 

plaintiff's injury; any effort made by the officer to temper or to limit the amount of force; the 

severity of the security problem at issue; the threat reasonably perceived by the officer; and 

whether the plaintiff was actively resisting.’”  Rudavsky v. City of S. Burlington, No. 2:18-CV-

25, 2021 WL 1894780, at *8 (D. Vt. May 11, 2021) (quoting Kingsley v. Hendrickson, 576 U.S. 

389, 397 (2015)).18  

 
17 The Complaint’s Count 6 suggests in conclusory fashion that all Defendants’ supposed 
physical restraint and imposition of isolated confinement on all Plaintiffs also amounts to a 
denial of “procedural due process.” Compl. ¶ 260. However, the Complaint does not allege any 
facts indicating what process Plaintiffs contend that they were due in relation to their restraint 
and confinement, nor describe how any of the Moving Defendants were personally involved, 
sufficient to meet the Section 1983 ‘personal involvement’ requirement, in the deprivation of 
these procedural protections.  
 
18 “Additionally, claims for excessive force under the Fourteenth Amendment must involve force 
that is either ‘more than de minimis’ or ‘repugnant to the conscience of mankind.’ ” Lewis v. 
Huebner, No. 17-CV-8101, 2020 WL 1244254, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 16, 2020) (quoting United 
States v. Walsh, 194 F.3d 37, 48 (2d Cir. 1999)); see also Wright v. Goord, 554 F.3d 255 (2d Cir. 
1997) (grabbing of prisoner did not constitute unconstitutional excessive force); Boddie v. 
Schnieder, 105 F.3d 857, 862 (2d Cir. 1997) (inmate’s allegations that he was bumped, grabbed, 
elbowed, and pushed by corrections officers were insufficient to establish a constitutional 
violation). 
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  Accordingly, to avoid dismissal for failure to state a claim, a plaintiff asserting a 

Fourteenth Amendment excessive force claim must allege non-conclusory facts sufficient for the 

district court “to plausibly infer that the force allegedly used against plaintiff was objectively 

unreasonable.”  Vasquez v. Schenectady Cnty. Corr. Facility, No. 920CV0785TJMCFH, 2020 

WL 6482029, at *5 (N.D.N.Y. Nov. 4, 2020) (dismissing for failure to state a claim pretrial 

detainee’s Fourteenth Amendment excessive force claim where “amended complaint lacks any 

details regarding the manner or duration of force used against plaintiff, or the events that 

precipitated the use of force. Instead, plaintiff conclusorily alleges only that he ‘was assaulted by 

five correctional officers[.]’ Moreover, with respect to plaintiff's injuries, the amended complaint 

alleges only that plaintiff suffered ‘bad bruising and swelling’ in his ‘legs and back’ as a result of 

the use of force incident, without any details regarding the duration of these injuries, plaintiff's 

level of pain, or ensuing limitations on his day-to-day activities” (citation omitted)).19 

 In this case, Plaintiffs R.H., T.F. and B.C. fail to allege sufficient facts about the physical 

restraint episodes involving the Moving Defendants for the Court to plausibly infer, based on the 

Supreme Court’s Kingsley factors, that any Moving Defendant applied force to R.H., T.F. or 

 
19 See also Owens v. Buckman, No. 4:21-CV-P96-JHM, 2022 WL 508901, at *4 (W.D. Ky. Feb. 
18, 2022) (“Plaintiff’s one-sentence allegation against Defendant Hilton” that he told Plaintiff to 
“pack up” and then “for no reason” pepper-sprayed him “is too conclusory and lacking in factual 
specificity to state a Fourteenth Amendment claim for excessive force. Thus, this claim will be 
dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.”); Oliver v. Pemiscot 
Cnty. Jail, No. 1:21-CV-126 SNLJ, 2021 WL 5906237, at *4 (E.D. Mo. Dec. 14, 2021) (“Here, 
Plaintiff does not provide enough factual allegations to suggest that the force used by Walker 
was purposely or knowingly unreasonable. Plaintiff alleges that Walker tasered him in the chest 
and sprayed mace in his face. Plaintiff alleges that at the time, he was not acting aggressively, 
threatening anyone, or acting out in anger. But he also indicates that Walker's actions were the 
result of Plaintiff failing to ‘lockdown’ when told to do so”); Harkless v. Yates, No. 20-3313-
SAC, 2021 WL 1140366, at *2 (D. Kan. Mar. 25, 2021) (“Plaintiff's conclusory allegations that 
defendant Yates kicked him and that this was cruel and unusual are insufficient” to state claims 
under Eighth or Fourteenth Amendments). 
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B.C. that was objectively unreasonable or more than de minimus.  Accordingly, these Plaintiffs 

fail to state Fourteenth Amendment excessive force claims against any Moving Defendants and 

Counts 5 and 6 must be dismissed as to them.   

 The Complaint only alleges that “R.H. was physically restrained” by Moving Defendants 

Weiner, Martinez and Rochon on several occasions, Compl. ¶ 143, and that “T.F. was physically 

restrained” and “dragged across the floor” by Moving Defendant Piette with co-Defendant 

Bunnell, resulting in “friction burns.” Id. ¶¶ 175-76.  The Complaint also alleges that Moving 

Defendant Ruggles assisted co-Defendant Hattin and other Woodside staff in pinning B.C. to the 

floor and removing her clothing.  Id. ¶ 186.20   

 However, first, the Complaint does not allege the facts or circumstances leading up to 

each restraint, such as actions or behaviors by R.H., T.F. or B.C. that may have led Woodside 

staff members to believe it necessary to restrain them for their own safety and the safety of 

others.  Second,  R.H., T.F. and B.C. allege very little about the degree, amount or specific type 

of physical force that was applied to them by each of the Moving Defendants during these 

restraint episodes.  Third, the Complaint does not adequately allege the nature, severity or 

permanence of any physical pain or injury that R.H., T.F. or B.C. may have experienced as a 

result of these restraint episodes. Finally, fourth, R.H., T.F. and B.C. do not allege any facts at all 

about the knowledge or purpose of any of the Moving Defendants in supposedly participating in 

 
20 The Complaint further alleges that Moving “Defendant Ruggles told B.C. that if she 
surrendered her clothes, she would be provided a safety smock.”  Compl. ¶ 187.  However, this 
alleged quid pro quo does not violate the Fourteenth Amendment since “verbal harassment and 
name calling, absent physical injury, are not constitutional violations cognizable under § 1983.”  
Borges v. Schenectady Cnty., No. 920CV245LEKDJS, 2020 WL 5369808, at *5 (N.D.N.Y. Sept. 
8, 2020). 
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these restraint episodes. As a result, Plaintiffs R.H., T.F. and B.C. have failed to plead plausible 

Fourteenth Amendment excessive force claims against any of the Moving Defendants.    

VI. The Court Should Not Retain Jurisdiction Over Plaintiffs’ Supplemental State Law 
Claims (Counts 10-12) in the Absence of a Viable Federal Claim Against Moving 
Defendants   

Under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3), district courts “may decline to exercise supplemental 

jurisdiction over a claim under [§ 1367(a) ] if the district court has dismissed all claims over 

which it has original jurisdiction.”  “[I]n the usual case in which all federal-law claims are 

eliminated before trial, the balance of factors to be considered under the pendent jurisdiction 

doctrine -- judicial economy, convenience, fairness, and comity -- will point toward declining to 

exercise jurisdiction over the remaining state-law claims.” Carnegie-Mellon Univ. v. Cohill, 484 

U.S. 343, 350 n.7 (1988). 

As discussed above, all of the claims asserted against the Moving Defendants arising 

under federal law, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983, 1985 (Count 1-6 and 8-9) should be dismissed at the 

pleadings stage, prior to any discovery, pursuant to Rules 8(a)(2) and 12(b)(6).  There is no 

compelling reason related to judicial economy, convenience, fairness, or comity for the Court to 

depart from the usual practice and retain supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state law 

claims.  Counts 10-12 should therefore also be dismissed as to Moving Defendants. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Defendants Nicholas Weiner, David Martinez, Carol Ruggles, 

Tim Piette and Devin Rochon respectfully request that the Court grant their Motion to Dismiss 

and dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint as to them in its entirety.   
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Dated at Burlington, Vermont this 25th day of April 2022. 
 

HEILMANN, EKMAN, COOLEY & GAGNON, INC. 
 
Attorneys for Defendants Nicholas Weiner, David Martinez, Carol 
Ruggles, Tim Piette and Devin Rochon 

 
By:    /s/ Jon T. Alexander    

Jon T. Alexander, Esq. 
Robin O. Cooley, Esq. 
Heilmann, Ekman, Cooley & Gagnon, Inc.  
125 College Street, P.O. Box 216 
Burlington, VT 05401-0216 
802-864-4555  
jalexander@healaw.com 
rcooley@healaw.com 
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